


Financial Highlights

			   	

		  31 December 2013	 31 December 2012

	  	
Total Net Assets	  	 US$278,192,239	 US$480,034,269

Net Asset Value per Share	

	 US$ Shares	  US$6.26	 US$7.92

	 £ Shares	  £6.19	 £7.77

Closing-Trade Share Price	 

	 US$ Shares	  US$4.72	  US$5.25

	 £ Shares	 £4.40	 £5.43

Discount to Net Asset Value	  	

	 US$ Shares	 (24.60)%	 (33.71)%

	 £ Shares	 (28.92)%	 (30.12)%



PB 1

G
overnance

1

Perform
ance

G
overnance

Financial S
tatem

ents

Contents

1
2
3

Chairman’s Statement	 3

Investment Manager’s Report	 5

Schedule of Investments	 35

Statement of Financial Position	 36

Statement of Comprehensive Income	 37

Statement of Changes in Equity	 38

Statement of Cash Flows	 39

Notes to the Financial Statements	 40

Corporate Information	 59

Board Members	 19

Directors’ Report	 20

Report of the Audit Committee	 26

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in  
Respect of the Annual Report and Audited  
Financial Statements	 29

Directors’ Remuneration Report	 30

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members  
of Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited	 31



1
Chairman’s Statement	 3

Investment Manager’s Report	 5

Performance

2



Perform
ance

 

3

1: Performance
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

This is my first Chairman’s Statement  

since taking over from Jonathan Agnew as  

Chairman last October. I would like to take  

this opportunity to thank Jonathan for all his  

hard work on behalf of the Company since its 

inception in late 2007.

AGOL’s Net Asset Values (“NAVs”) per share have 

fallen from US$7.92 and £7.77 at the end of 2012 

to US$6.26 and £6.19 at the end of 2013. About 

half of this fall was due to a write down in the 

valuation of Odebrecht Agroindustrial (previously 

called ETH Bioenergia) and much of the rest was 

due to a write down in the value of ECI Telecom 

and a fall in the share price of MCX. Whilst these 

write downs are regrettable, recent exits have 

been made at or above the latest valuation levels 

and the Investment Manager believes that there  

is considerable upside potential remaining in  

the portfolio, much of which could be realised  

in the coming year.

The US Dollar and Sterling share prices stood  

at US$4.72 and £4.40 respectively as at  

31 December 2013, decreases of 10.1% and 

19.0% respectively against 31 December 2012 

levels. As at 31 December 2013, the NAV of the 

Company was US$278.2 million and the market 

capitalisation was US$201.8 million, reflecting  

an average discount of 27.4% between the  

NAVs per share and the share prices.

While the Board recognises that the discounts  

of the share prices to the NAVs per share remain 

around December 2012 levels (in percentage 

terms), it is encouraged by the recent exits  

and associated distributions. Shareholders  

should also recognise that during the year  

to date over one-third of their shareholdings  

have been paid out at a nil discount to NAV.

Because AGOL shares had been trading at a  

large discount to their NAVs per share, the Board 

decided to convene an Extraordinary General 

Meeting (the “EGM”) on 13 March 2013 to put 

forward proposals for a managed wind-down of 

AGOL, the realisation of its assets in an orderly 

manner and the return of cash to shareholders. 

The shareholders duly voted in favour of these 

proposals and passed the requisite resolutions  

to facilitate that process. 

Since the EGM, I am pleased to report that  

the process of realising assets is proceeding 

smoothly. The Investment Manager’s report 

contains details of assets realised during the year. 

Including the recent distribution paid in January 

2014, the Company has made capital distributions 

of US$168.4 million compared to net assets of 

US$480.0 million and a market capitalisation of 

US$328.6 million at the end of December 2012. 

Hence, total distributions to date represent 

approximately 35% of net assets or 51% of 

market capitalisation as at 31 December 2012.

Chairman’s Statement

Cumulative Distributions

 

Per EGM  
Announcement  

US$

Percentage of  
31-12-2012  

NAV

Accumulated Actual  
Distributions 

US$*

Percentage of  
31-12-2012  

NAV

31-Mar-13 60,000,000 12% 92,500,000 19%
30-Jun-13 – – 105,500,000 22%
30-Sep-13 135,000,000 28% 131,500,000 27%
31-Dec-13 – – 168,400,000 35%
31-Mar-14 – – – – 
30-Jun-14 – – – – 
30-Sep-14 – – – – 
31-Dec-14 240,017,135 50% – – 

* Gross of fees and distribution costs
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The Board indicated in the circular published  

prior to the EGM that it expects 50% of the NAV 

as at 31 December 2012 to be distributed back  

to shareholders by 31 December 2014. Based  

on distributions to date and discussions with the 

Investment Manager, I am confident that this 

target can be achieved. This of course remains 

subject to market conditions being conducive  

to the sale of the Company’s holdings by the 

Investment Manager.

As mentioned, Jonathan Agnew retired as 

Chairman and Independent Director of the 

Company with effect from 17 October 2013. 

Subsequent to the year end, Graeme Dell retired 

from the Board with effect from 16 January 2014. 

The Board has appointed Steve Hicks as a 

Non-Independent Director of the Company with 

effect from 16 January 2014. The Board thanks 

both Jonathan and Graeme for all their work, 

guidance and involvement with the Company  

over the years.

I would like to welcome Steve to the Board  

of AGOL and to thank everyone involved with 

AGOL for their hard work in what has been  

a difficult year for the Company.

Richard Hotchkis
15 April 2014

Chairman’s Statement continued
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Investment Manager’s Report 

In March 2013, following an Extraordinary  

General Meeting (“EGM”), the Board of AGOL 

announced that investors had voted in favour  

of a managed wind-down of the Company. As  

a result of this vote, the Company announced  

that no further investments would be made,  

and all existing investments would be realised, 

with the proceeds being returned to investors.

Performance
As at 31 December 2013, the Net Asset Values 

(“NAVs”) per share of the US Dollar and Sterling 

classes stood at US$6.26 and £6.19 respectively, 

decreases of 20.96% and 20.33% respectively 

over the year. 

Investment Portfolio and Divestments
During the year, the Company received 

distributions and disposal proceeds of  

US$122.8 million from its investments.  

The majority of these came from the  

Ashmore Asian Recovery Fund, the Ashmore 

Global Special Situations Funds 3 and 4 and  

the Ashmore SICAV Funds. The distributions  

were the result of realised investments in these 

underlying funds, through the sales of Bangkok 

Land, Star Energy, TAAS, and the partial exit of  

Al Noor Hospital Group, as well as dividends 

received from AEI and MCX. At the start of  

the year, AGOL realised its positions in various 

daily dealing Ashmore SICAV Funds. 

A number of distributions have been made 

following the EGM announcement: based  

on realisations to March 2013, the Company 

initially distributed $92,500,000 following the  

vote to wind the Company down. The Board  

has since approved three further distributions  

of $13,000,000, $26,000,000, and $36,900,000.  

At the time of the EGM, the Board highlighted  

that approximately 50% of the NAV as at  

31 December 2012 would be available for 

distribution by 31 December 2014. At the time  

of writing, AGOL has distributed 35% of the  

31 December 2012 NAV.

On 3 December 2013, the Board announced  

that it had been notified of a material reduction  

in the Company’s NAV, due to a significant  

mark down in the valuation of the equity of 

Odebrecht Agroindustrial. 

For Odebrecht Agroindustrial, the Brazilian 

gasoline market continues to pose a challenge 

due to price controls, which have compounded 

the impact of adverse weather events on  

the ethanol industry over the last two years. 

Gasoline prices have been kept artificially low  

in order to manage inflation and, as a result of  

the substitution effect between gasoline and 

ethanol, these price controls have also impacted 

domestic ethanol prices. This has contributed to 

the closure of 44 ethanol mills over the last two 

years and Petrobras has recently announced its 

first quarterly loss for 13 years. While Odebrecht 

Agroindustrial continues to ramp up its operations 

and increase its profitability, the low ethanol price 

and previously reported weather issues have led 

to a substantial increase in debt and hence a 

reduction in equity value.

Like other companies in its sector, such as  

Alcatel and Nokia Solutions & Networks,  

ECI Telecom’s revenues and margins have 

suffered from aggressive competition for telco 

procurement spend, in particular from Huawei  

and ZTE. As a result, the company was forced  

to restructure in 2012 and 2013, and under new 

management initiated a turnaround, achieving 

three consecutive quarters of positive EBITDA  

up to June 2013. However, the sales outlook for 

the second half of 2013 deteriorated dramatically, 

opening up a significant gap in funding, which led 

management to actively look at options to address 

the shortfall. The company continued to breach  

its covenants and in December 2013 the banks 

advised that they were not willing to extend their 

facilities further on terms which were acceptable 

to the company. 

As part of a wider restructuring of ECI’s balance 

sheet, led by an unaffiliated minority shareholder/ 

lender, the Ashmore Funds have exited their 

position in return for receiving a possible recovery 

from a subsequent successful sale of ECI.

MCX, the Indian commodity exchange, saw its 

share price fall by over 60% in 2013. The drivers 

of this fall were a drop in trading volumes on 

account of the introduction of a Commodity 

Transaction Tax (CTT) from July 2013 and 

increased margin requirements imposed  
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

by the regulator. In August 2013, a sister company 

was implicated in a regulatory matter which led to 

a further fall in MCX’s share price. However, once 

it became clear to investors that MCX was not 

affected, the share price partially recovered.

Apart from the three companies mentioned 

earlier, the portfolio of investee companies,  

held directly and indirectly via underlying funds, 

performed well at the operating level. 

EMTEK, the Jakarta Stock Exchange-listed 

television company, spent much of the year 

integrating the 85% stake it acquired in IDKM 

with SCTV (EMTEK’s main television station) by 

developing a joint production platform, introducing 

a Pay TV service and increasing the use of its 

studio capacity. EMTEK’s share price was quite 

volatile, initially withstanding the volatility of the 

wider Indonesian equity market, but subsequently 

succumbing to a general de-rating of Indonesian 

equities. Over the year, the share price increased 

by 12.70% in US dollar terms compared to a 

21.59% fall in the Jakarta Composite Index.

As part of AEI’s plan to focus on greenfield 

projects, the company sold its remaining non-core 

assets, which were realised at a higher than 

expected price, and distributed the proceeds to 

shareholders. The focus is now on the company’s 

three principal development sites: Fenix in Peru  

(a natural gas plant), Arrayan in Chile (a renewable 

energy plant), and Jaguar in Guatemala (a solid 

fuel energy plant). Fenix went into production in 

November 2013. For Jaguar, management decided 

to change the plant’s construction contractor due  

to the continued operational difficulties experienced 

by the previous contractor in Guatemala.

TAAS, the Russian oil exploration company,  

was marked up 36% in August and was 

subsequently sold in September at a 38% 

premium to the marked-up valuation. This 

increase in value meant that the final IRR on  

this investment was positive: representing a 

significant improvement over the interim IRR 

figures published in previous AGOL reports. 

GEMS/UtilEco, the Saudi waste management 

business, continues to expand due to increased 

demand. The company recently entered the tank 

cleaning business by signing its first major  

tank cleaning contract with SEC (Saudi  

Electricity Company) for 90 tanks. The 

construction of additional storage, handling  

and processing capacity at the Al Joffah,  

Rabigh, Yanbu and Dammam sites will  

increase capacity to meet demand. 

Pacnet, under its new CEO, has successfully 

implemented a cost reduction programme,  

leading to a significant improvement in EBITDA. 

Management is now focused on building out the 

data centre business.

Al Noor Hospital Group is the largest integrated 

private healthcare service provider in the Emirate 

of Abu Dhabi. The company listed on the London 

Stock Exchange on 21 June 2013 and Ashmore 

Funds to which AGOL has exposure exited 

approximately half of their positions at that time. 

Since then, the company has performed well,  

with Q3 2013 revenues up 11%. The company 

has also expanded operationally in terms of the 

number of physicians and the number of medical 

centres which it operates. The Group remains 

debt free with a strong cash position, allowing  

Al Noor to explore further acquisition opportunities. 

Since listing, Al-Noor’s share price has risen by 

over 50%.

Outlook
The Investment Manager remains focused on a 

speedy and orderly realisation of the Company’s 

investments, in line with the Board’s desire to 

return cash to shareholders both as quickly as 

possible and at full valuations.
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

The table below shows the top 10 underlying investments. Changes to the table since the interim report include the full 

realisation of TAAS in September and the mark down of Odebrecht Agroindustrial in Q4 2013. These changes have resulted 

in the inclusion of Media.Net and Indostar. There have also been some changes in size/ranking by NAV

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis)
Investment Name Holding Country Business Description 

EMTEK 12.10% Indonesia Listed Indonesian telecoms, information technology and multimedia company.
AEI 9.94% Cayman Islands Owns, operates and develops interests in multiple power generation assets in Latin America. 
Alphaland 9.65% Philippines Real estate development company focusing on underdeveloped sites. 
Pacnet 7.03% Singapore Asia’s leading independent telecoms infrastructure and service provider.
GEMS/UtilEco 6.75% Saudi Arabia Saudi Arabian integrated industrial services and waste management platform.
Jasper Investments 6.53% Singapore Invests in the offshore oil and gas drilling and services sector.
Al Noor Medical 5.49% UAE Provider of integrated healthcare services.
Media.Net 3.43% India Internet traffic monetisation business.
MCX 3.31% India India’s leading commodity exchange with over 80% market share.
Indostar 2.83% India Non-bank finance company (NBFC) focusing on wholesale lending in India.

The mark down of Odebrecht Agroindustrial has resulted in Singapore replacing Brazil in the top three country allocations, 

with India and Indonesia remaining as core allocations in second and third place respectively. By industry, the largest 

weighting has reverted back to Real Estate, as it was at the end of the prior year. The tables below show the top 10 country 

and industry allocations at the end of December 2013:

Country (% of NAV)

Singapore 13.76%
India 12.58%
Indonesia 12.10%
Philippines 10.76%
Cayman Islands 9.94%
Saudi Arabia 6.79%
United Arab Emirates 5.55%
Brazil 4.66%
China 3.40%
Russia 1.99%

Industry (% of NAV)

Real Estate 12.44%
Media 12.10%
Electric Integration and Generation 11.28%
Diversified Financial Services 7.38%
Telecommunications 7.03%
Environmental Control 6.75%
Oil & Gas Services 6.73%
Healthcare Services 5.49%
Advertising 3.43%
Mining 2.17%
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis)

Elang Mahkota Teknologi EMTEK

Business Description
AA EMTEK is a holding company with interests in Free-to-Air TV, 

communications networks and related retail and IT services. However,  

the vast majority of EMTEK’s value comes from its interest in SCTV, 

Indonesia’s No.2 FTA channel

AA SCTV has acquired an 84.7% interest in Indosiar, its main FTA competitor. 

This will give the combined platform a 25% market share in Indonesia

Investment Rationale 
AA EMTEK/SCTV provided a clear exposure to raising Indonesian incomes  

and expenditure

AA Ashmore believes that the FTA media business in Indonesia will consolidate 

over time, for which EMTEK should provide the best platform

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA IDKM, in which EMTEK acquired an 85% interest, has been merged with 

SCTV – the integrated entity is held by EMTEK effective May 2013

AA Cost of Broadcast and OPEX continued to decline year-on-year. A major 

driver of this remains EMTEK’s in-house production strategy

AA EMTEK has accelerated its roll out of Pay TV

Current Priorities
AA IDKM integration and performance improvement

AA The Indonesian market has excess capacity and is inefficient. Applying 

SCTV’s benchmarks to the other operators should result in material  

savings and increased revenues

Exit Options
AA We believe that a successful integration with IDKM will provide a more 

attractive platform going forward and will increase the exit routes available

Company: EMTEK

Industry: Television

Country: Indonesia

Website: www.emtek.co.id

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued
 

Ashmore Energy International (AEI)

Business Description
AA Headquartered in Houston, Texas, AEI owns and operates interests in 

multiple power generation assets primarily in Central and South America

AA Businesses include operating plants in Central America and three  

greenfield projects being developed in South America

Investment Rationale
AA AEI was formed by Ashmore to create a diversified portfolio of  

Emerging Markets energy assets

AA AEI is reorganising around its core power generation assets with a  

focus on cash generation from producing assets and completion of  

the greenfield projects

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA Continued oversight of the greenfield projects:

—— Fenix commissioning activities were delayed by a few months due  

to delays in equipment supplies. The commissioning process has  

now started and is on track to be completed in late February 2014 

—— The Jaguar EPC contractor is being replaced, but has contested the 

change. The legal arbitration process has started and site security  

has been bolstered 

—— Continued progress in developing the El Arrayan project in Chile

AA Higher than expected realisations from the sale of non-core assets,  

which have been distributed to investors through dividends

Current Priorities
AA The sale of the remaining operating assets

AA Replacement of the Jaguar EPC contractor due to ongoing delays  

to the project

AA Ongoing HQ cost monitoring and improvements

AA Greenfield financing support

Exit Options 
AA Private sale of assets, either individually or as a group

Company: Ashmore Energy 

International (AEI)

Industry: Power Generation

Country: Regional Latin America

Website: www.aeienergy.com 

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Equity



10 11

1: Performance
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

Alphaland

Business Description
AA Alphaland is a developer of Class A office and retail space and high and 

mid-tier residential real estate in Metro Manila. In addition, the Company  

is a development partner in two high-end resorts and second home 

developments on holiday islands near to Manila

AA The Company’s assets are a Metro Manila land bank, a tenanted mixed-use 

office building, under construction sites in Makati Manila and two residential 

developments in the island belt around Manila 

Investment Rationale
AA The macro driver for Ashmore’s initial investment was the relative lack  

of Class A office buildings in Metro Manila compared to potential demand: 

—— Supply was/is not meeting the needs of the outsourcing, offshoring and 

services industries 

—— Continued strong remittance payments were seeking quality, new build, 

affordable city housing. This has not been a traditional market for  

Metro Manila developers

AA In addition, our partners in Alphaland were able to provide i) an experienced 

local management team able to source land and build, and ii) well-priced 

acquisition prices from distressed sellers

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA The Makati City Club was opened in Q4 2013

Current Priorities
AA The Company is in discussions with possible buyers or major tenants for 

one of its main assets, Alphaland Tower

Exit Options 
AA Ashmore is exploring potential exit options for this investment

Subsequent to the financial year end, entities controlled by Ashmore Funds 

entered into legal proceedings regarding the Alphaland investment (see note 17d).

Company: Alphaland

Industry: Real Estate Development

Country: The Philippines

Website: www.alphaland.com.ph

Company Status: Public

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Underlying equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

Pacnet

Business Description
AA Pacnet was formed in 2008 with the merger of three leading Asian IP 

telecommunication companies, creating Asia’s longest and highest-capacity 

privately-owned submarine cable network

AA Total network construction costs were US$4.1bn

AA Its mission is to become Asia’s leading next-generation data service provider 

for all enterprises in the Asia Pacific region

Investment Rationale
AA Network acquisitions were completed at a fraction of construction costs

AA Value drivers included exponential Asian broadband usage growth and 

pricing recovery from massive over-capacity

AA The plan to become the largest owner of sub-sea capacity in Asia to 

command pricing power and lead consolidation while building a complex 

telecom services company 

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA EBITDA – following cost cutting initiatives and a focus on higher-margin 

products, the EBITDA margin has improved from 16% to 23% and 2013 

estimated EBITDA is in the $111m range, a 32% year-on-year increase

AA China – Pacnet has entered into an agreement with the Tianjin Government 

to operate a tier III data centre, giving the company its second data centre  

in mainland China, which is slated to open in April 2014

AA Data Centres – the company is attracting leading financial and internet tech 

companies into its HK, PRC and Australia data centres, and the Singapore 

data centre was opened in December 2013 with customers already installed

Current Priorities
AA Identifying further cost savings, the launch of a more comprehensive suite 

of managed services for both the data centres and network as a service,  

and the launch of additional data centre sites and investments in China

Exit Options 
AA Pacnet’s core network infrastructure and regional portfolio of Asia Pacific 

data centres make it an attractive target for telecommunications firms 

looking to expand into Asia Pacific or to become regional players with a 

diversified product offering for enterprise customers. Pacnet has re-financed 

its 9.25% bonds at a lower coupon of 9%, extending the maturity to 2018 

and removing the automatic put feature on a Change of Control, all of which 

should assist in our exit planning

Company: Pacnet

Industry: Telephony – Integrated

Country: Hong Kong and Singapore

Website: www.pacnet.com

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Debt



12 13

1: Performance
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

GEMS/Utileco

Business Description
AA GEMS/Utileco is an integrated industrial services and waste management 

platform. The main business activities are the collection, handling and 

disposal of petroleum and chemical wastes

AA The company split into four business units as the range of services and 

activities diversified:  

1. Waste management 

2. Industrial services 

3. Engineering services 

4. Oil trading

AA 	GEMS runs 14 waste oil collection and treatment sites across the  

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Investment Rationale 
AA To leverage GEMS’ existing infrastructure, facilities, partnerships, licences and contracts, combined with Utileco’s IP 

and management team, to create the leading integrated waste management company in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, 

and the wider region

AA Ashmore funds invested in GEMS/Utileco in Q4 2008 and Q1 2009, with several subsequent investments to fund 

capacity increases and the consolidation of shareholding over the past two years 

AA Further value generation is available through continued capacity expansion together with investment in Integrated 

Waste Management plants and waste lube oil re-refineries, that will not only increase collection capacity  

but also improve the level of resources recovered, including waste and base oils which can be resold in the local 

market as well as regionally 

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA As per preliminary 2013 results, EBITDA has grown 66% from the prior year, reflecting steady growth in waste 

management and the benefit of the new business lines: industrial services, engineering services and oil trading 

AA GEMS has developed a prototype facility for the processing of highly toxic waste from Aramco, SABIC affiliates and 

others, which is currently sent to the USA for processing. Contracts to receive this high-value waste have been signed 

and revenues are expected in Q2 2014. Full-scale facilities are under construction in Dammam and Joffah

Current Priorities
AA Construction of additional capacity at the Al Joffah, Rabigh, Yanbu and Dammam sites to meet demand and handle 

new waste types

AA Construction of the Yanbu Integrated Waste Management Company in the Royal Commission Zone, which is  

currently underway 

AA Recruitment of engineers and technicians to bolster capacity across the company to handle the increases in business 

and to expand industrial services capabilities

AA Leveraging client relationships in the waste management and industrial services business segments to expand into 

the oil trading business. Significant volumes have already been contracted

Exit Options 
AA Targeting a trade sale to local Saudi industrials, regional funds, or international waste management businesses looking 

for exposure to the sector/region, or sale to existing shareholders

Company: GEMS/Utileco

Industry: Non-hazardous  

waste disposal

Country: Saudi Arabia

Website: www.gems-ksa.com/ 

www.utileco.com 

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Underlying Equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued
 

Company: Jasper Investments

Industry: Oil Field Services

Country: Singapore

Website:  
www.jasperinvestments.com

Company Status: Public

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Debt and 

Underlying Equity

Jasper Investments

Business Description
AA Jasper Investments Limited (“Jasper”) is a holding company listed on the 

SGX since 1993, which principally invests in the offshore oil and gas drilling 

and services sector 

AA Jasper’s principal subsidiary, Jasper Offshore, owns and operates oil rigs  

for deep sea drilling, which are contracted out to oil and gas exploration  

and production companies

Investment Rationale 
AA Ashmore acquired its majority interest in Jasper as a Singapore listed 

holding vehicle

AA Ashmore had the opportunity to acquire Neptune, the oilfield services 

genesis of Jasper, when the previous management/promoter team got  

into financial difficulties 

AA A conversion programme was expected to be a cheaper and more efficient 

way to get access to increasing exploration and production capex spending

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA Both Keppel jack-ups were sold to a Mexican acquirer for US$216m each, 

versus a contract value of US$172m each

AA The Explorer is now concluding its second drilling contract with over 92% 

uptime. The contract is with CNOOC in West Africa and drilling of the first 

hole has been successfully completed, while the second hole is likely to 

conclude at the end of February 2014. A further drilling contract with 

CNOOC in Africa is being negotiated 

AA FY2013/14 profitability is ahead of budget, with net cash being generated 

AA A new CEO with considerable operational, technical and marketing 

experience in the drilling industry is in place, with further mid-level  

hires in progress

AA The conversion of Cosmopolitan into an accommodation vessel has been 

completed within budget and to timetable and various options including  

the sale of the vessel, are being explored 

Current Priorities
AA Management is focused on the successful operation of the CNOOC  

drilling mandate. In addition, management is working on a number of  

drilling opportunities post-contract with both CNOOC and other parties 

AA The enhancement of the governance of the business

AA The Cosmopolitan sale process, which is progressing as planned 

Exit Options
AA M&A of either the company with assets under contract, or the individual 

assets depending on their relative value
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

Al Noor Medical Company

Business Description
AA Al Noor, established in 1985 in Abu Dhabi, is an integrated healthcare 

service provider comprising three hospitals, six clinics, 10 pharmacies  

and one warehouse

AA Through its operating assets, the company provides primary, secondary  

and intermediate tertiary care services

AA The company (as of year-end 2012) operates total bed capacity of 

approximately 300 and employs approximately 3,200 administrative  

and clinical staff, including 350 doctors

Investment Rationale 
AA Ashmore invested in Al Noor in Q3 2010 as one of the existing investors 

was in need of liquidity and seeking to partially monetise their investment

AA The attractive demographics of the UAE, coupled with extended life 

expectancies and increased cases of “lifestyle” diseases

AA This investment is in an undersupplied sector which has displayed 

consistent high growth of a non-cyclical nature. The company had been  

a market leader for 25 years, and had a strong financial and operational  

track record supported by a strong management team

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA Cumulative dividends received of US$13.6m to date

AA Q3 sales up 11% quarter-on-quarter

AA Number of revenue-generating physicians up to 418, an increase of 23%  

in the last 12 months

AA Shares have traded up over 50% since listing

AA Ashmore funds retain an indirect interest of some 4.8% (from 8.9%)

Current Priorities
AA Continued growth through organic development of the business and vertical 

M&A in primary and speciality clinics

AA Assess time to exit as lock out on IPO ends 21 June 2014

Exit Options
AA Gradual sale of shares/block trades in the market

Company: Al Noor Medical Company

Industry: Medical – Hospitals

Country: United Arab Emirates

Website: www.alnoorhospital.com

Company Status: Public

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Underlying Equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

Media.Net Worldwide Holdings

Business Description
AA Media.Net (formerly Skenzo Holdings) is one of the world’s leading 

companies in the internet traffic monetisation business

AA In addition to its revenue-generating domain parking business, Media.Net 

develops leading-edge technology based on in-depth research and processes

AA One of the key technical developments of Media.Net is its contextual 

advertising platform. Media.Net utilises proprietary analysis and classification 

algorithms to dynamically identify and deliver the most relevant and effective 

ads on a web page. The company’s technology is able to uniquely blend 

contextual analysis with behaviour data, audience profiling, demographic 

information and historical performance metrics to significantly enhance 

value for both web publishers and advertisers. In 2012, Media.Net won  

a five year exclusive contract with Yahoo! to manage its Yahoo! Bing 

Contextual Ads programme

Investment Rationale 
AA Media.Net demonstrated its superior technology development expertise and 

capabilities in the core growth areas of internet publishing and advertising

AA 	The company’s development resources are located in its development 

centre in Mumbai, India, providing it with a high-quality, scalable and 

efficient technology development platform

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA Ashmore has worked closely with management in their discussions with 

Yahoo! regarding partnership proposals, which included Yahoo! evaluating 

the acquisition of a stake in the company

AA Performance has been on budget and revenues have more than doubled  

in the last 12 months, driven by the Yahoo! contract

AA Ashmore assisted in the search and placement of the Director of Finance

AA Management are looking to develop additional revenue streams and products, 

both as an extension within and independent of the Yahoo! Programme

Current Priorities
AA Continue to grow business with third-party publishers

AA Increase sales presence in the US and augment the tech team in India

AA Build out and increase revenues from new product platforms, including 

email, display, mobile and video

AA Sale of the domain portfolios while continuing to offer domain parking 

monetisation services

Exit Options 
AA IPO or strategic sale

AA Downside protection in the form of a liquidation preference that entitles 

Ashmore funds to the first US$50m of value on the sale of Media.Net

Company: Media.Net  

Worldwide Holdings

Industry: Advertising Services

Country: Mauritius/Dubai/India

Website: www.media.net/ 

www.skenzo.com

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

MCX

Business Description
AA MCX is India’s leading commodity exchange, with an 89% market share

AA Globally, MCX is the third largest commodities futures exchange in terms  

of volume. In terms of future contracts traded, it ranks first in silver and 

gold, second in natural gas, and third in crude oil

AA It has 30 commodities trading across segments including bullion, base 

metals, energy and agricultural commodities 

Investment Rationale 
AA MCX is India’s leading commodity exchange, with a first-mover advantage

AA It is expected to benefit from rapid growth in the commodity trading 

business on the back of India’s economic growth

AA Structural changes in the business and better infrastructure provided an 

opportunity to enhance value. India’s proportion of commodity derivatives  

to physical contracts is at 3x compared to 30-40x for global benchmarks

AA Ashmore acquired the stake at a discount to the entry price as part of the 

vendor’s strategy to sell non-core assets

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA MCX became the first futures exchange to offer a) futures trading in steel 

and crude oil, amongst others, and (b) a futures for physicals facility

AA MCX reached a new highest daily turnover on 15 April 2013

AA To comply with the regulator’s requirement to ensure that the operations of the 

company are independently managed, the promoters of MCX have given up 

their board positions and a professional CEO was appointed in December 2013

Current Priorities
AA Transitioning management to the new CEO and a team that is independent 

from the promoters

AA Continue to expand geographically and improve penetration though 

international strategic tie-ups, investor awareness drives and by signing  

up new brokers

AA Launch commodity options upon the approval of the FCRA bill by  

the Government

Exit Options 
AA In March 2012, MCX became the first Indian bourse to be listed on the 

Indian stock exchanges 

AA Stake sales in the secondary market 

Company: MCX

Industry: Diversified  

Financial Services

Country: India

Website: www.mcxindia.com

Company Status: Public

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Underlying Equity
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Investment Manager’s Report continued

Details on Top 10 Underlying Holdings (on a look through basis) continued

Indostar Capital Finance 

Business Description
AA Set up as a newly capitalised and licensed non-bank finance company 

(“NBFC”) with a focus on wholesale lending in India

AA Indostar formally launched operations on 1 April 2011, focused on lending  

to bank-restricted sectors within the Indian market 

AA A consortium of private equity investors, comprising Everstone Capital, 

Goldman Sachs, Baer Capital, ACPI, CDIB Capital and Ashmore, have  

jointly capitalised the company at US$200m

Investment Rationale 
AA The opportunity for local currency credit in India is very attractive, driven  

by (i) robust demand for credit, (ii) a limited corporate bond market and  

(iii) extensive lending restrictions on banks

AA Ashmore, along with its consortium partners, is entering the investment  

at book value with an ability to exercise oversight and due control over 

disbursements through participation in the credit committee

AA Due to RBI single borrower limits (an NBFC can only extend credit of up  

to 15% of its net worth to any single borrower), the large initial equity 

capitalisation will be a differentiator making Indostar a significant player  

in the corporate wholesale financing space

Value Creation in the Last 12 Months
AA The management team focused on improving business performance amidst 

a challenging lending environment; revenues during the last quarter are 

tracking budget

AA Indostar completed an on-budget borrowing programme, which increased 

its leverage (D/E) from 0.92x at the end of the last financial year to 1.58x  

in December 2013

AA Indostar is currently well placed from both an asset portfolio and liquidity position

Current Priorities
AA Continue to build the loan book with an increased focus on origination  

and a higher emphasis on fee income to increase returns on equity

AA Increase leverage while also reducing the borrowing cost by diversifying 

sources and improving the company’s debt rating

AA Launch an asset management business on receipt of regulatory approvals 

that have been applied for

Exit Options 
AA M&A, strategic stake sale

 
Ashmore Investment Management Limited 
Investment Manager 

15 April 2014

Company: Indostar Capital Finance 

Industry: Finance – Other Services

Country: India

Website: www.indostarcapital.com

Company Status: Private

Deal Type: Private Equity

Investment Risk: Underlying Equity
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2: Governance
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

As at 31 December 2013, the Board consisted of four 

Non-executive Directors. The Directors are responsible for the 

determination of the investment policy of Ashmore Global 

Opportunities Limited (the “Company” or “AGOL”) and have 

overall responsibility for the Company’s activities. As required 

by the AIC Code on Corporate Governance (the “Code”),  

the majority of the Board of Directors are independent of  

the Investment Manager. In preparing this Annual Report,  

the independence of each Director has been considered.

Richard Hotchkis, Independent Chairman, (Guernsey 

resident) appointed 18 April 2011

Richard Hotchkis has 37 years of investment experience. 

Until 2006, he was an investment manager at the  

Co-operative Insurance Society, where he started his career 

in 1976. He has a breadth of investment experience in both 

UK and overseas equities, including in emerging markets, 

and in particular, investment companies and other closed 

ended funds, offshore funds, hedge funds and private equity 

funds. Richard is currently a director of a number of funds, 

including FRM Credit Alpha Limited, Alternative Investment 

Strategies Limited and Advance Frontier Markets  

Fund Limited.

Steve Hicks, Non-Independent Director, (connected to the 

Investment Manager), (UK resident) appointed 16 January 2014

Steve Hicks, who is a qualified UK lawyer, has held a  

number of legal and compliance roles over a period of more 

than 25 years. From June 2010 until January 2014 he was 

the Ashmore Group Head of Compliance. Prior thereto he 

was Director, Group Compliance at the London listed private 

equity company 3i Group plc.

Nigel de la Rue, Independent Director, (Guernsey resident) 

appointed 16 October 2007

Nigel de la Rue graduated in 1978 from Pembroke College, 

Cambridge with a degree in Social and Political Sciences.  

He is qualified as an Associate of the Chartered Institute  

of Bankers, as a Member of the Society of Trust and Estate 

Practitioners (STEP) and as a Member of the Institute of 

Directors. He was employed for 23 years by Baring Asset 

Management’s Financial Services Division, where he was 

responsible for the group’s Fiduciary Division and sat on the 

Executive Committee. He left Baring in December 2005,  

one year after that Division was acquired by Northern Trust. 

He has served on the Guernsey Committees of the Chartered 

Institute of Bankers and STEP, and on the Guernsey 

Association of Trustees, and currently holds a number  

of directorships in the financial services sector.

Board Members 

Christopher Legge, Independent Director, (Guernsey 

resident) appointed 27 August 2010

Christopher Legge has over 25 years’ experience in financial 

services. He qualified as a Chartered Accountant in London 

in 1980 and spent the majority of his career based in 

Guernsey with Ernst & Young, including being the Senior 

Partner of Ernst & Young in the Channel Islands. Christopher 

retired from Ernst & Young in 2003 and currently holds a 

number of directorships in the financial sector, including at 

BH Macro Limited where he is Senior Independent Director 

and chairs the Audit Committee.

Jonathan Agnew, Independent Chairman, (UK resident) 

appointed 16 October 2007 and retired 17 October 2013.

Graeme Dell, Non-Independent Director, (employee of the 

Investment Manager), (UK resident) appointed 5 March 2008 

and resigned 16 January 2014.

Disclosure of Directorships in Public Companies 
Listed on Recognised Stock Exchanges
The following summarises the Directors’ directorships in 

other public companies:

Company Name Exchange

Richard Hotchkis
	 Alternative Investment Strategies Limited London
	 Advance Frontier Markets Fund Limited AIM and CISE
Steve Hicks Nil
Nigel de la Rue Nil
Christopher Legge
	 Baring Vostok Investments PCC Limited CISE
	 BH Macro Limited London, Bermuda 

and Dubai
	� John Laing Environmental Assets Group Limited London
	� Sherborne Investors (Guernsey) B Limited London
	 Third Point Offshore Investors Limited London
	� TwentyFour Select Monthly Income Fund Limited London
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Directors’ Report 

The Directors submit their Report together with 

the Company’s Statement of Financial Position, 

Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 

of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, 

and related notes for the year ended 31 December 

2013, which have been prepared properly, in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the IASB and are 

in agreement with the accounting records, which 

have been properly kept in compliance with section 

238 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. 

The Company
The Company was incorporated with limited 

liability in Guernsey, Channel Islands as an 

authorised closed-ended investment company  

on 21 June 2007. The Company was launched  

on 7 December 2007 and the Company’s shares 

were admitted to the Official Listing of the 

London Stock Exchange on 12 December 2007, 

pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. 

Following changes to the Listing Rules on 6 April 

2010, the listing became a Standard Listing. On  

27 April 2011, the UK Listing Authority confirmed 

the transfer of the Company from a Standard 

Listing to a Premium Listing under Chapter 15 of 

the Listing Rules. The Company’s US$ Shares and 

£ Shares are included in the FTSE All-Share Index.

Investment Strategy 
Prior to the Extraordinary General Meeting 

(“EGM”) of shareholders on 13 March 2013,  

the Company’s investment objective was to 

deploy capital in a diversified portfolio of global 

emerging market strategies and actively manage 

these with a view to maximising total returns.  

This was implemented by investing across  

various investment themes (Alternatives including 

Special Situations and Real Estate, External  

Debt, Local Currency, Equities, Corporate Debt 

and Multi-Strategy), with a principal focus on 

Special Situations. 

The Company employed a dynamic allocation  

of the Company’s assets across Ashmore’s 

investment themes with a principal focus on 

Special Situations, seeking to create value for 

shareholders and target total return through active 

portfolio management. The Investment Manager 

employed a predominantly top-down and value-

driven investment approach coupled with a 

bottom-up selection of investments in those 

Ashmore funds (“Funds”) where corporate and 

Special Situations assets were more significant. 

Through investing in the Funds, the Company 

sought to build a globally diverse portfolio of 

investments and to benefit from the Investment 

Manager’s experience in investing globally in 

emerging markets countries (including in distressed 

and Special Situations assets) and in the resolution 

or restructuring of such investments. 

On 12 December 2012, the Board announced, 

following its review and in conjunction with its 

independent financial and legal advisers, options 

to address the structural issue of the discount to 

net asset value at which the shares were trading, 

which included proposals to shareholders: to 

amend the investment strategy to make no new 

Special Situations investments (with any new 

investments to be shorter term in nature); to 

realise the Company’s assets for cash over the 

next few years; and over time to return all cash 

realised from the investment portfolio to 

shareholders (the “Managed Wind-Down”).

Shareholders approved the Board’s proposals 

above at the EGM held on 13 March 2013.

The Board believes the revised investment 

strategy is the best way of realising the value  

of the Company. 

Going Concern
In view of the significant discount to net asset 

value at which the Company’s shares were 

trading, on 16 November 2012 the Board  

deemed it appropriate to suspend the share 

buyback programme, while they considered 

options available to address this structural issue.

The Board of Directors called an EGM, which  

was held on 13 March 2013, to approve proposals 

for a managed wind-down of the Company’s 

portfolio. All proposals were duly passed at the 

EGM and accordingly the Board has,

1. �changed the investment objective of the 

Company to the realisation of the Company’s 

assets in an orderly manner in order to return 

cash to shareholders; 
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Directors’ Report continued

2. �amended the Articles of Incorporation to 

facilitate a regular, quarterly return of cash  

to shareholders; 

3. �amended the Articles of Incorporation in relation 

to the removal of the continuation vote;

4. �amended the Articles of Incorporation to  

reduce the minimum number of Directors  

from five to one; and

5. �amended the terms of the Investment 

Management Agreement (“IMA”) between  

the Company and Ashmore Investment 

Management Limited (“Investment Manager”).

The Directors have examined significant areas  

of possible financial going concern risk and are 

satisfied that no material exposures exist. The 

Directors therefore consider that the Company 

has adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future and after  

due consideration believe it is appropriate to adopt 

the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements, despite the managed wind-down  

of the Company over the next few years.

Results and Dividends
The results for the year are set out on page 37  

of this annual report. 

Compulsory Partial Redemptions
Following the approval by the Company’s 

shareholders of the wind-down proposal  

as described in the circular published on  

20 February 2013, during the year ended  

31 December 2013, the Company announced 

returns of capital to shareholders by way of 

compulsory partial redemptions of shares,  

with the following redemption dates:

AA 	3 May 2013, using the 31 March 2013  

Net Asset Value;

AA 	2 August 2013, using the 30 June 2013  

Net Asset Value; and

AA 	1 November 2013, using the  

30 September 2013 Net Asset Value.

Between the end of the reporting period and  

the date when the financial statements were 

authorised for issue, the Company announced 

returns of capital to shareholders by way of 

compulsory partial redemptions of shares, with 

the following redemption dates:

AA 31 January 2014 using the 31 December 2013 

Net Asset Value;

The amounts applied to the partial redemptions  

of shares comprised monies from the realisation 

of the Company’s investments up to and including 

the reference NAV calculation dates less the liquid 

assets required to meet the liabilities of the Company.

Share Capital
The number of shares in issue at the year end is 

disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

The Board 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility 

for safeguarding the Company’s assets, for the 

determination of the investment policy of the 

Company, for reviewing the performance of the 

service providers and for the Company’s activities. 

The Directors, all of whom are non-executive, are 

listed on page 19. 

In accordance with Article 18.3 of the Company’s 

Articles of Incorporation, at each Annual General 

Meeting one-third of the Directors shall retire  

from office via rotation and be put forward for 

re-election based on continued satisfactory 

performance. Any Director who serves nine  

years on the Board, will thereafter be put  

forward for re-election on an annual basis.

The Board holds Board meetings at least four times 

a year. At Board meetings, the Directors review the 

management of the Company’s assets and all other 

significant matters so as to ensure that the Directors 

maintain overall control and supervision of the 

Company’s affairs. The Board is responsible for  

the appointment and monitoring of all service 

providers to the Company, following updates  

and recommendations from the Management 

Engagement Committee. Between these formal 

meetings there is regular contact with the 

Investment Manager. The Directors are kept fully 

informed of investment and financial controls and 

other matters that are relevant to the business of the 

Company and should be brought to the attention of 

the Directors. The Directors also have access to the 

Secretary and, where necessary in the furtherance 

of their duties, to independent professional advice  

at the expense of the Company.
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Directors’ Report continued

The table below sets out the number of Board, 

Audit and Management Engagement Committee 

meetings during the year ended 31 December 2013:

Board  
meetings 
attended

Audit 
Committee 

meetings 
attended

Management 
Engagement 

Committee 
meeting 

attended

Jonathan Agnew  
(retired 17 October 2013) 6 2 1
Richard Hotchkis 7 3 1
Graeme Dell 7 2 –
Nigel de la Rue 8 3 1
Christopher Legge 7 3 1
No. of meetings 
during the year 8 3 1

In addition to the meetings above, seven other 

committee meetings were held during the year. 

Any Directors who are not members of Board 

Committees are invited to attend meetings of 

such committees as necessary.

Directors’ Interests
As at 31 December 2013, three Directors:  

Nigel de la Rue, Christopher Legge and  

Richard Hotchkis, had beneficial interests in 2,883, 

1,802 and 1,082 Sterling shares respectively.

The Company has adopted a code of directors’ 

dealings in shares, which is based on the Model 

Code for directors’ dealings contained in the  

LSE’s Listing Rules.

Directors’ Indemnity 
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is  

in place in favour of the Directors. The Directors 

entered into indemnity agreements with the 

Company which provide for, subject to the 

provisions of the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 

2008, an indemnity for Directors in respect of 

costs which they may incur relating to the 

defence of proceedings brought against them 

arising out of their positions as Directors, in which 

they are acquitted or judgement is given in their 

favour by the Court. The agreement does not 

provide for any indemnification for liability which 

attaches to the Directors in connection with any 

negligence, unfavourable judgements, or breach 

of duty or trust in relation to the Company.

Corporate Governance
To comply with the UK Listing Regime, the 

Company must comply with the requirements  

of the UK Corporate Governance Code. The 

Company is also required to comply with the  

Code of Corporate Governance issued by the 

Guernsey Financial Services Commission.

The Company is a member of the Association  

of Investment Companies (the “AIC”) and, by 

complying with the AIC Code of Corporate 

Governance (“AIC Code”), it is deemed to comply 

with both the UK Corporate Governance Code  

and Guernsey Code of Corporate Governance.

The Guernsey Financial Services Commission’s 

Code of Corporate Governance (the “GFSC 

Code”) provides a framework that applies to  

all entities licensed by the Guernsey Financial 

Services Commission or which are registered  

or authorised as a collective investment scheme  

in Guernsey. Companies reporting against the  

UK Corporate Governance Code or the AIC Code 

are deemed to comply with the GFSC Code.

The Board of the Company has considered  

the principles and recommendations of the  

AIC Code by reference to the AIC Corporate 

Governance Guide for Investment Companies 

(“AIC Guide”). The AIC Code, as explained by  

the AIC Guide, addresses all the principles  

set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code,  

as well as setting out additional principles and 

recommendations on issues that are of specific 

relevance to the Company.

The Board considers that reporting against the 

principles and recommendations of the AIC Code, 

by reference to the AIC Guide (which incorporates 

the UK Corporate Governance Code), will provide 

better information to shareholders. To ensure 

ongoing compliance with these principles, the 

Board receives and reviews a report from the 

Secretary, at each quarterly meeting, identifying 

whether the Company is in compliance and 

recommending any changes that are necessary.
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The Company has complied with the 

recommendations of the AIC Code and  

the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate 

Governance Code, except as set out below:

The UK Corporate Governance Code includes 

provisions relating to:

AA the role of the chief executive;

AA executive directors’ remuneration;

AA the need for an internal audit function;

AA whistle-blowing policies;

AA nomination committees;

AA remuneration committees.

For the reasons set out in the AIC Guide, and as 

explained in the UK Corporate Governance Code, 

the Board considers that these provisions are not 

relevant to the position of the Company as an 

investment company. The Company has therefore 

not reported further in respect of these provisions. 

The Directors are non-executive and the Company 

does not have employees, hence no whistle-blowing 

policy is required. The Directors have satisfied 

themselves that the Company’s key service 

providers have appropriate whistle-blowing policies 

and procedures and seek regular confirmation from 

the service providers that nothing has arisen under 

those policies and procedures which should be 

brought to the attention of the Board. Details of 

compliance are noted in the succeeding pages. 

There have been no instances of non-compliance, 

other than those noted above.

Details and biographies for all the Directors can  

be found on page 19 of this annual report, and  

on the Company’s website (www.agol.com).  

In considering the independence of the  

Chairman, the Board has taken note of the 

provisions of the Code relating to independence 

and has determined that Richard Hotchkis is an 

Independent Director. As the Chairman is an 

Independent Director, no appointment of a  

Senior Independent Director has been made.

The Board has a breadth of experience relevant  

to the Company and the Directors believe that  

any changes to the Board’s composition can  

be managed without undue disruption. As soon  

as practicable after the Board is satisfied with  

the progress of the managed wind-down, the 

Board intends to reduce its size and thus further 

reduce its costs. 

The Board, Audit Committee and Management 

Engagement Committee undertake an evaluation  

of their own performance and that of the individual 

Directors on an annual basis. In order to review their 

effectiveness, the Board, Audit Committee and 

Management Engagement Committee carry out a 

process of formal self-appraisal in order to consider 

how they function as a whole and also to review 

the individual performance of their members. This 

process is conducted by the respective Chairman 

reviewing the Directors’ performance, contribution 

and commitment to the Company. Given that the 

Company is in a managed wind-down, the Board 

considers that it would not be justified in incurring 

the expense of an independent evaluation of the 

Board’s performance. 

With the appointment to the Board of any  

new Director, consideration will be given as  

to whether an induction process is appropriate. 

Ongoing Charges
Ongoing charges for the year ended 31 December 

2013 have been prepared in accordance with the 

AIC’s recommended methodology and amounted 

to 0.96% of the NAV (31 December 2012: 0.78%).

Audit Committee 
An Audit Committee has been established and 

holds meetings at least twice a year for the 

purpose, amongst others, of considering the 

appointment, independence, effectiveness and 

remuneration of the auditors and to review and 

recommend the statutory annual report and 

interim report to the Board of Directors. Full details 

of its functions and activities are set out in the 

Report of the Audit Committee on pages 26 to 28.

Nomination Committee
The Board as a whole fulfils the function of a 

nomination committee. The Board considers that, 

given the size of the Board and that the Company has 

no executives, it would not be appropriate to establish 

a separate nomination committee as anticipated by 

the AIC Code. Neither external search consultancy 

nor open advertising have been used when 

appointing a Chairman or a non-executive director 

because of the specialist nature of the appointments 

and the knowledge amongst existing Directors and 

Ashmore Investment Management Limited. 
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Directors’ Report continued

Conversion Committee
The Company has established a Conversion 
Committee, which consists of Nigel de la Rue, 
Christopher Legge and Richard Hotchkis. The 
Conversion Committee holds meetings in order  
to determine the terms of monthly/quarterly  
share conversions, based on shareholders’  
requests received by the Company. The date on 
which conversion of the shares takes place (the 
“Conversion Date”) is determined by the Conversion 
Committee, being not more than 20 business days 
after the relevant Conversion Calculation Date.

The Directors approved a number of conversions 
during the year, the details of which can be  
found in note 8 in the notes to the financial 
statements. Conversions approved by the 
Directors subsequent to the year end are detailed  
in note 17 in the notes to the financial statements.

Disclosure Committee 
The Company has established a Disclosure 
Committee with formally delegated duties and 
functions. The Disclosure Committee meets when 
required to consider any potential disclosures to  
be made by the Company through a Regulatory 
Information Service provider, in compliance with 
the Company’s obligations under the Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules. The Disclosure 
Committee is comprised of Richard Hotchkis, 
Christopher Legge and Chairman, Nigel de la Rue. 
The principal duty of the Disclosure Committee is  
to consider and approve announcements and 
disclosures to be made on behalf of the Company  
in accordance with the Company’s ongoing 
compliance with applicable law.

Management Engagement Committee 
The function of the Management Engagement 
Committee, comprised of three independent 
Directors (Christopher Legge, Richard Hotchkis and 
Nigel de la Rue), is to ensure that the Company’s 
Investment Management Agreement is competitive 
and reasonable for the shareholders, along with the 
Company’s agreements with all other third-party 
service providers (other than the external auditors). 
The Committee also reviews the performance of 
the Investment Manager and the other third-party 
service providers on a periodic basis.

The Company has entered into an agreement  
with the Investment Manager, Ashmore 
Investment Management Limited. This sets  

out the Investment Manager’s key responsibilities, 
which include proposing an investment strategy  
to the Board and, within certain authority limits, 
selecting investments for acquisition and disposal 
and arranging appropriate lending facilities. The 
Investment Manager is also responsible for all 
issues pertaining to asset management. The 
Management Engagement Committee reviews  
the performance, fees and terms of the Investment 
Management Agreement on an annual basis. 

Despite the performance of the Company since 
incorporation, at its October 2012 and January 2013 
meetings it was the view of the Management 
Engagement Committee that it is in the best 
interests of the shareholders to continue with the 
current appointment of the Investment Manager 
under the terms agreed, which were subsequently 
amended in the revised Investment Management 
Agreement dated 1 February 2013. At the date  
of this report, the Board continues to expect that 
Ashmore will remain the Investment Manager for 
the remaining life of the Company.

Remuneration Committee
As all the Directors are non-executive, the Board 
has resolved that it is not appropriate to form a 
Remuneration Committee and remuneration is 
reviewed and discussed by the Board as a whole 
(with each Director abstaining when approving  
any changes to their own fee), with independent 
advice from the Administrator and the Broker. 
Details on Directors’ remuneration can be found  
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 30 
of this annual report.

The terms of reference of all the existing 
committees are made available by the Company  
to shareholders upon request.

Internal Controls
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. The Board confirms that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Company. 
This process has been in place for the year under 
review and up to the date of approval of this annual 
report and accords with the Turnbull guidance. The 
Code requires Directors to conduct, at least annually, 
a review of the Company’s system of internal control, 
covering all controls, including: financial, operational, 
compliance and risk management. 
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Significant Shareholders
As at 31 December 2013, the following entities had significant shareholdings in the Company:

Significant Shareholder GBP Shares held US$ Shares held % holding in Company

Chase Nominees Limited 6,398,656 45,088 23.69%
Goldman Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited 227,229 4,146,224 10.17%
The Bank Of New York (Nominees) Limited 2,467,998 32,484 9.17%
Nortrust Nominees Limited 939,151 1,598,823 7.06%
HSBC Global Custody Nominee (UK) Limited 637,062 2,070,428 7.01%
State Street Nominees Limited 983,367 778,172 5.38%
Nordea Bank Danmark A/S – 1,981,086 4.46%
UBS Private Banking Nominees Limited 1,095,028 – 4.04%
Lynchwood Nominees Limited 504,830 952,501 4.00%
Euroclear Nominees Limited – 1,726,442 3.88%
Goldman Sachs International 907,239 499 3.35%
Nutraco Nominees Limited 849,250 31,130 3.20%

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 15 April 2014

Richard Hotchkis	 Christopher Legge
Chairman	 Chairman of the Audit Committee

The risk matrix is subject to an annual review  

by the Board. The Board has reviewed the 

effectiveness of the systems of internal control.  

In particular, it has reviewed and updated the 

process for identifying and evaluating the 

significant risks affecting the Company and the 

policies by which these risks are managed. The 

internal control systems are designed to meet  

the Company’s particular needs and the risks  

to which it is exposed. Accordingly, the internal 

control systems are designed to manage rather 

than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 

business objectives and by their nature can  

only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance against misstatement and loss.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 
The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

(“FATCA”) is aimed at determining the ownership 

of US assets in foreign accounts and improving 

US tax compliance with respect to those assets. 

The legislation is wide-encompassing and affects 

all non-US Funds, albeit some more than others. 

However, on 13 December 2013 the States of 

Guernsey entered into an Inter-Governmental 

Agreement (“IGA”) with the US Treasury in order 

to facilitate the requirements of FATCA through 

local legislation. The IGA and the associated 

guidance notes set out the requirements and 

obligations of the Company under the rules, and 

the Board is monitoring implementation with the 

assistance of its legal advisers and accountants. 

UK Guernsey Intergovernmental Agreement 
The States of Guernsey has also entered into  

an IGA with the UK, signed on 22 October 2013, 

under which a disclosure obligation will arise on 

the Company in respect of all shareholders who 

have a UK connection. The IGA and the associated 

guidance notes set out the requirements and 

obligations of the Company under the rules, and 

the Board is monitoring implementation with the 

assistance of its legal advisers and accountants.

Relations with Shareholders 
The Investment Manager maintains a regular 

dialogue with institutional shareholders, the 

feedback from which is reported to the Board.  

In addition, Board members are available to 

respond to shareholders’ questions at the  

Annual General Meeting.

The Company announces its Net Asset Value  

on a monthly basis to the London Stock 

Exchange. A monthly report on investment 

performance is published on the Company’s 

website (www.agol.com). Shareholders who  

wish to communicate with the Board should 

contact the Administrator in the first instance, 

whose contact details can be found on the 

Company’s website.
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Report of the Audit Committee

On the following pages, we present the Audit 

Committee (the “Committee”) Report for 2013, 

setting out the Committee’s structure and 

composition, principal duties and key activities 

during the year. As in previous years, the 

Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial 

reporting, the independence and effectiveness of 

the independent auditor and the internal control 

and risk management systems of service providers.

Structure and Composition 
The Audit Committee consists of Nigel de la Rue, 

Richard Hotchkis and Chairman Christopher 

Legge. Appointment to the Audit Committee  

is for a period of up to three years, which may  

be extended for two further three-year periods 

provided that the majority of the Audit Committee 

remains independent of the Investment Manager. 

Nigel de la Rue, Christopher Legge and Richard 

Hotchkis are currently serving their third, second 

and first, three-year terms respectively. An 

induction programme is provided for new Audit 

Committee members and ongoing training is 

available for all members as required. 

The Audit Committee conducts formal meetings 

at least twice a year. The table on page 22 sets 

out the number of Audit Committee meetings 

held during the year ended 31 December 2013 

and the number of such meetings attended by 

each Committee member. The independent 

auditor is invited to attend meetings at which  

the annual and interim reports are presented  

to the Committee as well as the annual audit 

planning meeting. 

Principal Duties 
The role of the Committee includes: 

AA 	to monitor the integrity of the financial 

statements of the Company and any  

formal announcements relating to the 

Company’s financial performance,  

reviewing significant financial reporting 

judgements contained in them;

AA 	to review the Company’s internal financial 

controls and, unless expressly addressed by 

the Board itself, to review the Company’s 

internal control and risk management systems;

AA 	to monitor and review the effectiveness  

of the Company’s internal audit function;

AA 	to make recommendations to the Board,  

and for them to be subsequently put to 

shareholders for their approval at the  

Annual General Meeting, in relation to  

the appointment, re-appointment or  

removal of the external auditor and to 

approve the remuneration and terms  

of engagement of the external auditor;

AA 	to review and monitor the external  

auditor’s independence and objectivity  

and the effectiveness of the audit process, 

taking into consideration relevant UK 

professional and regulatory requirements;

AA 	to develop and implement policy on the 

engagement of the external auditor to  

supply non-audit services, taking into 

account relevant ethical guidance  

regarding the provision of non-audit  

services by the external audit firm; and  

to report to the Board, identifying any 

matters in respect of which it considers  

that action or improvement is needed, 

making recommendations as to the steps  

to be taken; and 

AA 	to report to the Board on how it has 

discharged its responsibilities.

The complete details of the Committee’s  

formal duties and responsibilities are set out in  

the Committee’s terms of reference, which can 

be obtained from the Company’s administrator.

Independent Auditor (independence  
and effectiveness)
KPMG Channel Islands Limited have expressed 

their willingness to continue in office as auditors 

and a resolution proposing their re-appointment 

will be submitted at the Annual General Meeting. 

The independence and objectivity of the 

independent auditor is reviewed by the Audit 

Committee, which also reviews the terms under 

which the independent auditor is appointed to 

perform non-audit services. The Audit Committee 

has also established pre-approval policies and 

procedures for the engagement of KPMG to 

provide audit, assurance and tax services.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

The audit and non-audit fees proposed by  

the auditor each year are reviewed by the 

Committee taking into account the Company’s 

structure, operations and other requirements 

during the period, and the Committee makes 

recommendations to the Board. 

Committee Evaluations during the Year
The following sections discuss the assessments 

made by the Committee during the year.

Effectiveness of the Audit 
The Committee had formal meetings with  

KPMG during the course of the year: 1) before  

the start of the audit to discuss formal planning, 

discuss any potential significant issues and  

agree the scope of the audit, and 2) after the  

audit work was concluded to discuss any 

significant issues encountered. 

The Board reviewed the effectiveness and 

independence of KPMG by using a number  

of quantitative measures, including but not  

limited to:

AA The audit plan presented before the  

start of the audit; 

AA The post audit report and presentation, 

including deviations from the original plan;

AA Any changes to audit personnel;

AA The auditors’ own internal procedures  

to identify threats to independence; 

AA Feedback from both the Manager  

and the Administrator. 

Further to the above, on the conclusion of the 

2013 audit, the Committee performed a specific 

evaluation of the performance of the independent 

auditor. This covered qualitative areas such as the 

quality of the audit team, business understanding, 

audit approach and management. 

There were no significant adverse findings from 

this evaluation.

Significant Financial Statement Issues 
The Committee’s review of the interim and annual 

financial statements focused on the following areas:

The financial statements have been prepared on 

the going concern basis, despite the managed 

wind-down of the Company which was approved 

by the shareholders during the EGM of 13 March 

2013. The Directors discussed the rationale for 

this accounting basis and they noted that they  

had examined significant areas of possible 

financial going concern risk, and were satisfied 

that no material exposures existed.

The valuation of the Company’s investment 

portfolio, given it represents the majority of the 

total assets of the Company requires the use of 

significant judgement for unlisted investments. 

The Directors are satisfied with the Investment 

Manager’s Pricing Methodology and Valuation 

Committee (“PMVC”)’s controls, appropriateness 

of the valuation techniques, inputs and 

assumptions used in relation to valuation  

of unlisted investments.

The foregoing matters were discussed during the 

planning and testing stages of the audit and there 

were no significant disagreements noted between 

management and the independent auditor.

The Committee is satisfied that the significant 

assumptions used for determining the value of 

assets and liabilities have been appropriately 

scrutinised and challenged and are sufficiently 

robust. The Committee further concludes that the 

financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, 

balanced and understandable and provide the 

information necessary for shareholders to assess 

the Company’s performance, business model  

and strategy. 

The Independent Auditor reported to the 

Committee that no material unadjusted 

misstatements were found in the course of  

its work. Furthermore, both the Investment 

Manager and the Administrator confirmed to  

the Committee that they were not aware of any 

material unadjusted misstatements, including 

matters relating to presentation. The Committee 

confirms that it is satisfied that the Independent 

Auditor has fulfilled its responsibilities with regard 

to diligence and professional scepticism.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Audit Fees and Safeguards for  
Non-Audit Services
Where non-audit services are to be provided  

to the Company by its auditor, full consideration  

of the financial and other implications for the 

independence of the auditor arising from any such 

engagement are considered prior to proceeding. 

The table below summarises the remuneration  

of KPMG Channel Islands Limited and of other 

KPMG affiliates for audit and non-audit services 

for the years ended 31 December 2013 and  

31 December 2012: 

Year ended  
31 December 2013  

US$

Year ended  
31 December 2012 

US$

Audit and audit 
related services
	 – Annual audit 98,425 97,444
	 – Interim review 43,701 39,980

Internal Control
The Audit Committee has reviewed the need  

for an internal audit function. Based on reviews  

of control reports, the Audit Committee has 

concluded that the systems and procedures 

employed by the Administrator and the 

Investment Manager, including their internal  

audit functions, provide sufficient assurance  

that a sound system of internal control which 

safeguards the Company’s assets is maintained. 

An internal audit function specific to the  

Company is therefore considered unnecessary.

Conclusions and Recommendations
The Audit Committee is satisfied that the external 

auditors remain independent and confirms that 

the Audit Committee also met with the external 

auditors without the Investment Manager or 

Administrator (Northern Trust International Fund 

Administration Services (Guernsey) Limited)  

being present, so as to provide a forum for the 

external auditors to raise any matters of concern 

in confidence.

Consequent to the review process on the 

effectiveness of the independent audit and the 

review of the audit and non-audit services that  

the Independent Auditor delivers, the Committee 

has recommended that KPMG be reappointed  

for the coming financial year.

For any questions on the activities of the 

Committee not addressed in the foregoing,  

a member of the Audit Committee remains 

available to attend each Annual General  

Meeting to respond to such questions.

Christopher Legge 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Annual Report  
and Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the 

Directors’ Report and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 

financial statements for each financial year. Under 

that law they have elected to prepare the financial 

statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and applicable law. 

The financial statements are required by law  

to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs  

of the Company and of the profit or loss of the 

Company for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 

Directors are required to:

AA select suitable accounting policies and  

then apply them consistently;

AA make judgements and estimates that  

are reasonable and prudent;

AA state whether applicable accounting 

standards have been followed, subject  

to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements; and

AA prepare the financial statements on the 

going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 

to presume that the Company will continue 

in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping  

proper accounting records which disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the Company and to enable them to 

ensure that the financial statements comply with 

the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008. They have 

general responsibility for taking such steps as are 

reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets 

of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud 

and other irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor
The Directors who held office at the date of 

approval of the financial statements confirm  

that, so far as they are each aware:

AA 	There is no relevant audit information  

of which the Company’s auditor is  

unaware; and 

AA 	Each Director has taken all the steps that 

they ought to have taken as a Director to 

make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the 

Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Responsibility Statement in respect of the 
Annual Report and Financial Statements
The Directors confirm that to the best of their 

knowledge and belief the annual report and the 

financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, 

balanced and understandable and provide the 

information necessary for the shareholders to 

assess the Company’s performance, business 

model and strategy.

Statement under the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules 4.1.12
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge  

and belief:

AA 	the financial statements, prepared in 

accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards, give a true and fair 

view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of the Company; 

AA the financial statements, taken as a whole, are 

fair, balanced and understandable and provide 

the information necessary for the shareholders 

to assess the Company’s performance, 

business model and strategy; and

AA the Chairman’s Statement, the Investment 

Manager’s Report and the Directors’ Report 

include a fair review of the development  

and performance of the business and  

the position of the Company, together  

with a description of the principal risks  

and uncertainties that the Company faces.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on  

15 April 2014

Richard Hotchkis	 Christopher Legge
Chairman		�  Chairman of the  

Audit Committee



30 31

2: Governance
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Directors’ Remuneration Report 

Introduction
An ordinary resolution for the approval of the 

annual remuneration report will be put to 

shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Remuneration Policy
As all the Directors are non-executive, the Board 

has resolved that it is not appropriate to form a 

Remuneration Committee and remuneration is 

reviewed and discussed by the Board as a whole. 

Directors’ remuneration is considered on a 

periodic basis.

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable  

to the Directors should reflect the time spent by 

the Directors on the Company’s affairs in addition 

to the responsibilities borne by the Directors,  

and should be sufficient to attract, retain and 

motivate directors of the quality required to run 

the Company successfully. The Chairman of the 

Board is paid a higher fee in recognition of his 

additional responsibilities, as is the Chairman of 

the Audit Committee. The policy is to review fee 

rates periodically, although such a review will not 

necessarily result in any changes to the rates,  

and account is taken of fees paid to the directors 

of comparable companies. 

There are no long-term incentive schemes 

provided by the Company and no performance 

fees are paid to Directors.

In accordance with Article 18.3 of the Company’s 

Articles of Incorporation, at each Annual General 

Meeting one-third of the Directors retire from office 

via rotation and are put forward for re-election 

based on continued satisfactory performance. Any 

Director who serves nine years on the Board will 

thereafter be put forward for re-election on an 

annual basis. Directors’ appointments can also be 

terminated in accordance with the Articles. Should 

shareholders vote against a Director standing for 

re-election, the Director affected will not be entitled 

to any compensation. There are no set notice 

periods and a Director may resign by giving notice 

in writing to the Board at any time.

As Graeme Dell was an employee of the 

Investment Manager and was therefore  

deemed not to be an Independent Director, he  

was put forward for re-election on an annual basis.

As Steve Hicks is connected to the Investment 

Manager and is therefore deemed not to be an 

Independent Director, he shall be put forward for 

re-election on an annual basis.

As a result of the Company being placed into a 

managed wind-down, it was considered appropriate 

for there to be a reduction in Directors’ fees.

Directors’ Fees
Directors are remunerated in the form of fees, 

payable monthly in arrears, to the Directors 

personally. No other remuneration or compensation 

was paid or payable by the Company during the 

period to any of the Directors apart from the 

reimbursement of allowable expenses. 

Effective 1 January 2013, Mr Dell agreed to  

waive his Director’s fee. Upon his appointment  

on 16 January 2014, Mr Hicks also agreed to 

waive his entitlement to a Director’s fee. 

Prior to 31 March 2013, Directors’ remuneration 

was as follows: the Chairman: £75,000 per annum, 

the Chairman of the Audit Committee: £35,000 per 

annum and the Directors: £33,000 per annum.

Effective 31 March 2013, the Independent Directors 

agreed to reduce their fees as follows: the Chairman 

by 20% and the other Directors by 10%.

Richard Hotchkis agreed that his fee as Chairman 

will be £31,500 per annum, effective from  

1 November 2013.

The fees payable by the Company in respect  

of each of the Directors who served during  

the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, 

were as follows:

Year ended  
31 December 2013 

£

Year ended  
31 December 2012 

£

Jonathan Agnew* 53,750 75,000
Christopher Legge 32,375 35,000
Graeme Dell – 33,000
Nigel de la Rue 30,525 33,000
Richard Hotchkis** 30,825 33,000
Total 147,475 209,000

*	 Retired as Chairman on 17 October 2013

**	 Appointed as Chairman on 17 October 2013

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on  

15 April 2014.

Richard Hotchkis	 Christopher Legge
Chairman		�  Chairman of the  

Audit Committee 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Ashmore 
Global Opportunities Limited 

Opinions and conclusions arising from  
our audit
Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements  

(the “financial statements”) of Ashmore Global 

Opportunities Limited (the “Company”) for the  

year ended 31 December 2013 which comprise  

the statement of financial position, statement of 

comprehensive income, the statement of changes 

in equity, the statement of cash flows and the 

related notes. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and International Financial Reporting 

Standards. In our opinion, the financial statements: 

AA give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 

and of its total comprehensive income for 

the year ended 31 December 2013; 

AA have been properly prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting 

Standards; and 

AA comply with the Companies (Guernsey)  

Law, 2008. 

Our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement
The risks of material misstatement detailed in  

this section of this report are those risks that we 

have deemed, in our professional judgement, to 

have had the greatest effect on: the overall audit 

strategy; the allocation of resources in our audit; 

and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 

Our audit procedures relating to these risks were 

designed in the context of our audit of the 

financial statements as a whole. Our opinion  

on the financial statements is not modified with 

respect to any of these risks, and we do not 

express an opinion on these individual risks.

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the 

financial statements, the risks of material 

misstatements that had the greatest effect  

on our audit were as follows:

Going concern: 
Refer to page 26 of the Report of the Audit 

Committee and note 2b accounting policies 

AA The risk – The Board of Directors held an 

Extraordinary General Meeting in March 

2013 at which shareholders approved 

proposals for a managed wind-down of the 

Company’s investment portfolio. Irrespective 

of this, the financial statements have been 

prepared on a going concern basis as the 

wind-down process is anticipated to take 

several years. 

AA Our response – Our audit procedures with 

respect to going concern included, but were 

not limited to, holding discussions with the 

Board of Directors and the Investment 

Manager, Ashmore Investment Management 

Limited, to understand the proposed 

investment portfolio realisation programme 

and to assess the implications of the managed 

wind-down on the financial statements. We 

also challenged management’s assessment  

of the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern against our other audit findings and 

considered the assessment made that there 

will be timely distributions to shareholders.

	 We also considered the Company’s going 

concern disclosure in note 2b of the financial 

statements for compliance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and other 

appropriate technical guidance.

Valuation of investments (US$237.3 million):
Refer to page 26 of the Report of the Audit 

Committee, note 2d accounting policies and  

note 7 disclosures

AA The risk – The Company invests 85.3% of its 

net assets into listed and unlisted investments. 

As described in the Report from the Audit 

Committee on page 27, the valuation of the 

Company’s investment portfolio, given it 

represents the majority of the total assets  

of the Company and requires the use of 

significant judgement for unlisted investments, 

is a significant area of our audit.

AA Our response – Our audit procedures with 

respect to the valuation of unlisted 

investments included, but were not limited to, 

testing the Investment Manager’s Pricing 

Methodology and Valuation Committee 

(“PMVC”)’s controls in relation to valuation of 

unlisted investments, including evaluating the 

work performed by Management’s valuation 

expert, and evaluating the appropriateness of 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Ashmore 
Global Opportunities Limited continued

the valuation techniques, inputs and 

assumptions used. For direct investments  

into underlying investees, we used our own 

International Financial Instruments Valuations 

specialist to evaluate the methodologies 

applied by considering the nature of the 

investments and accepted industry practices 

as well as challenging key assumptions applied 

by the Investment Manager and its PMVC by 

reference to independent market data and 

information and industry expectations. For 

investments into other investment funds,  

we have obtained net asset value per share 

confirmations directly from the underlying 

funds’ administrators and inspected the  

latest audited financial statements of these 

underlying funds in order to evaluate the 

nature of the investments held by the 

underlying funds, the financial reporting 

standards applied in the preparation of the 

underlying funds’ financial statements and  

any modifications to audit reports and other 

disclosures which may be relevant to the 

valuation of the Company’s investments. For 

investments in other Ashmore special situation 

investment funds, which are also audited by 

KPMG, we have also evaluated the valuation of 

their underlying investments on a look-through 

basis and performed tests equivalent to those 

for direct investments as described above. 

	 Our audit procedures with respect to the 

Company’s listed investments included, but 

were not limited to, verifying the fair value 

used in the financial statements to a third-

party pricing service provider. 

	 We have also considered the Company’s 

disclosures (see note 2d) in relation to the use 

of estimates and judgements regarding fair 

value of investments and the Company’s 

valuation policies adopted and fair value 

disclosures in Note 7 for compliance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards.

Our application of materiality and an 
overview of the scope of our audit
Materiality is a term used to describe the 

acceptable level of precision in financial 

statements. Auditing standards describe a 

misstatement or an omission as “material”  

if it could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

the financial statements. The auditor has to apply 

judgement in identifying whether a misstatement 

or omission is material and to do so the auditor 

identifies a monetary amount as “materiality for 

the financial statements as a whole”.

The materiality for the financial statements as a 

whole was set at US$5.5 million. This has been 

calculated using a benchmark of the Company’s 

total asset value (of which it represents 

approximately 2.0%) which we believe is the most 

appropriate benchmark as total asset value is 

considered to be one of the principal considerations 

for members of the Company in assessing the 

financial performance of the Company. 

We agreed with the audit committee to report  

to it all corrected and uncorrected misstatements 

we identified through our audit with a value in 

excess of US$278,000, in addition to other audit 

misstatements below that threshold that we 

believe warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Our assessment of materiality has informed  

our identification of significant risks of material 

misstatement and the associated audit procedures 

performed in those areas as detailed above. 

Whilst the audit process is designed to provide 

reasonable assurance of identifying material 

misstatements or omissions it is not guaranteed  

to do so. Rather we plan the audit to determine  

the extent of testing needed to reduce to an 

appropriately low level the probability that the 

aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 

misstatements does not exceed materiality for  

the financial statements as a whole. This testing 

requires us to conduct significant depth of work  

on a broad range of assets, liabilities, income and 

expense as well as devoting significant time of the 

most experienced members of the audit team, in 

particular the Responsible Individual, to subjective 

areas of the accounting and reporting process.

An audit involves obtaining evidence about  

the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements sufficient to give reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
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whether the accounting policies are appropriate  

to the Company’s circumstances and have been 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by the Board of Directors; and 

the overall presentation of the financial 

statements. In addition, we read all the financial 

and non-financial information in the Annual Report 

to identify material inconsistencies with the 

audited financial statements and to identify any 

information that is apparently materially incorrect 

based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 

knowledge acquired by us in the course of 

performing the audit. If we become aware  

of any apparent material misstatements or 

inconsistencies we consider the implications  

for our report.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception 
Under International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) 

(UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you 

if, based on the knowledge we acquired during 

our audit, we have identified other information  

in the Annual Report that contains a material 

inconsistency with either that knowledge or the 

financial statements, a material misstatement  

of fact, or that is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report to you if: 

AA we have identified material inconsistencies 

between the knowledge we acquired during 

our audit and the directors’ statement that 

they consider that the Annual Report and 

financial statements taken as a whole is fair, 

balanced and understandable and provides 

the information necessary for members  

to assess the Company’s performance, 

business model and strategy; or

AA the Report of the Audit Committee does not 

appropriately address matters communicated 

by us to the audit committee.

Under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, we 

are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

AA the Company has not kept proper accounting 

records; or 

AA the financial statements are not in 

agreement with the accounting records; or 

AA we have not received all the information  

and explanations, which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief are necessary for  

the purpose of our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review  

the part of the Corporate Governance Statement  

on pages 22 and 23 relating to the Company’s 

compliance with the nine provisions of the UK 

Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the  

above responsibilities.

Scope of report and responsibilities
The purpose of this report and restrictions on 
its use by persons other than the Company’s 
members as a body – This report is made solely  

to the Company’s members, as a body, in 

accordance with section 262 of the Companies 

(Guernsey) Law, 2008 and, in respect of any 

further matters on which we have agreed to 

report, on terms we have agreed with the 

Company. Our audit work has been undertaken so 

that we might state to the Company’s members 

those matters we are required to state to them in 

an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 

the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the Company and the Company’s members, 

as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 

the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors  
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 

Responsibilities Statement set out on page 29, 

the directors are responsible for the preparation  

of the financial statements and for being  

satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion 

on, the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and ISAs (UK and Ireland). Those 

standards require us to comply with the UK 

Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Neale D Jehan 
For and on behalf of KPMG Channel Islands Limited  

Chartered Accountants and Recognised Auditors 

20 New Street, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 4AN

15 April 2014

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Ashmore 
Global Opportunities Limited continued
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3: Financial Statements
Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Schedule of Investments

As at 31 December 2013

Valuation in US$ % of NAV

Ashmore Global Special Situations Fund 4 LP 98,348,635 35.35

Ashmore Asian Recovery Fund 49,332,907 17.73

Ashmore Global Special Situations Fund 5 LP 30,334,904 10.90

AEI Inc – Equity 16,471,209 5.92

Ashmore Global Special Situations Fund 3 LP 11,259,749 4.05

AA Development Capital India Fund LP 7,738,714 2.78

Everbright Ashmore China Real Estate Fund LP 5,479,939 1.97

Aginyx Ordinary Shares 5,371,650 1.93

VTBC Ashmore Real Estate Partners 1 LP 5,024,473 1.81

Ashmore Asian Special Opportunities Fund Limited 3,564,558 1.28

Renovavel Investments BV New PIK/PPN 2,646,061 0.95

Ashmore Global Special Situations Fund 2 Limited 1,159,382 0.42

Ashmore Private Equity Turkey Fund LP 580,654 0.21

Total investments at fair value 237,312,835 85.30

Net other current assets 40,879,404 14.70

Total net assets 278,192,239 100.00



36 37
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Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2013

 Notes
31 December 2013  

US$
31 December 2012 

US$

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 41,013,703 28,141,250
Other financial assets 6 9,895 3,773
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4, 5 241,385,286 458,867,159
Total assets  282,408,884 487,012,182

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company
Special reserve 8 579,014,573 705,125,322
Retained earnings (300,822,334) (225,091,053)
Total equity  278,192,239 480,034,269

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 6 3,693,957 6,658,436
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4, 5 522,688 319,477
Total liabilities  4,216,645 6,977,913
Total equity and liabilities  282,408,884 487,012,182

Net asset values
Net assets per $ share 9 US$6.26 US$7.92
Net assets per £ share 9 £6.19 £7.77

The financial statements on pages 35 to 58 were approved by the Board of Directors on 15 April 2014, and were signed on 

its behalf by: 

Richard Hotchkis	 Christopher Legge
Chairman		  Chairman of the Audit Committee

 

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes

Year ended  
31 December 2013  

US$

Year ended  
31 December 2012  

US$

Interest income 10 4,489 692
Dividend income 10 40,483,106 28,869,984
Net foreign currency (loss)/gain (1,748,890) 875
Other net changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss 4, 5 (106,813,766) (52,163,017)
Total net (loss)  (68,075,061) (23,291,466)

Expenses
Net investment management fee 11a (7,337,095) (2,676,787)
Incentive fee 11a 1,542,435 (845,334)
Directors’ remuneration 11b (256,906) (306,178)
Fund administration fee 11c (72,462) (202,591)
Custodian fees 11d (34,306) (99,403)
Other operating expenses 12 (1,497,886) (802,419)
Total operating expenses  (7,656,220) (4,932,712)

Operating (loss) for the year  (75,731,281) (28,224,178)

Other comprehensive income – –
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year  (75,731,281) (28,224,178)

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (loss) per US$ share 13 US$(1.48) US$(0.64)
Basic and diluted earnings per € share* 13 – US$1.19
Basic and diluted (loss) per £ share 13 US$(2.36) US$(0.62)

* The Euro Share class was cancelled on 23 April 2012.

All items derive from continuing activities.

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Notes
Special reserve 

US$
Retained earnings 

US$
Total 
US$

As at 1 January 2013 705,125,322 (225,091,053) 480,034,269
Total comprehensive loss for the year – (75,731,281) (75,731,281)
Capital distributions during the year 8 (126,110,749) – (126,110,749)
As at 31 December 2013 579,014,573 (300,822,334) 278,192,239

As at 1 January 2012 709,686,456 (196,866,875) 512,819,581
Total comprehensive loss for the year – (28,224,178) (28,224,178)
Repurchase of own shares 8 (4,561,134) – (4,561,134)
As at 31 December 2012 705,125,322 (225,091,053) 480,034,269

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows*

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Year ended  
31 December  

2013  
US$

Year ended  
31 December  

2012  
US$

Cash flows from operating activities
Net bank interest received 4,489 692
Dividends received 40,483,106 29,075,031
Operating expenses paid (10,626,821) (3,848,223)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 29,860,774 25,227,500

Cash flows from investing activities
Sale of investments 212,914,814 60,764,457
Purchase of investments (101,661,281) (65,987,228)
Net cash flow on derivative instruments and foreign exchange (2,131,105) 7,555,410
Net cash inflow from investing activities 109,122,428 2,332,639

Cash flows from financing activities   
Capital distributions (126,110,749) –
Repurchase of own shares – (4,561,134)
Net cash used in financing activities (126,110,749) (4,561,134)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,872,453 22,999,005

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28,141,250 5,142,245
Increase in cash and bank balances 12,872,453 22,999,005
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 41,013,703 28,141,250

* The preparation of the cash flow statement has changed from the indirect method to the direct method with the approval of the Directors.

The notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited

1.	 General Information

Ashmore Global Opportunities Limited (the “Company”, “AGOL”) is an authorised closed ended investment company incorporated in 
Guernsey on 21 June 2007 with an indefinite life and a listing on the London Stock Exchange. As an existing closed ended Company, 
AGOL is deemed to have been granted an authorisation in accordance with section 8 of the Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) 
Law 1987, as amended, and rule 7.02(2) of the Authorised Closed Ended Investment Schemes Rules 2008 on the same date as the 
Company obtained consent under the Control of Borrowing (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Ordinance 1959 to 1989. AGOL’s investment objective 
was to deploy capital in a diversified portfolio of global emerging market strategies and actively manage these with a view to maximising 
total returns. This was implemented by investing across various investment themes, including external debt, local currency, Special 
Situations (incorporating distressed debt and private equity), corporate high yield and equities with a principal focus on special situations.

The Company was launched on 7 December 2007 and the Company’s shares were admitted to the Official Listing of the London Stock 
Exchange on 12 December 2007, pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Following changes to the Listing Rules on 6 April 2010, 
the listing became a Standard Listing. On 27 April 2011, the UK Listing Authority confirmed the transfer of the Company from a 
Standard Listing to a Premium Listing under Chapter 15 of the Listing Rules.

On 20 February 2013, the Board of Directors proposed a managed wind-down of the Company following consultation with the 
Investment Manager and the main shareholders. The proposal was accepted during the Extraordinary General Meeting of  
shareholders on 13 March 2013.

Investment Strategy 
The Board of Directors is charged with setting the Company’s investment strategy in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation.  
They have delegated the day-to-day implementation of this strategy to the Investment Manager but retain responsibility to ensure  
that adequate resources of the Company are directed in accordance with their decisions. The investment decisions of the Investment 
Manager are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure compliance with the policies and legal responsibilities of the Board. The Investment 
Manager has been given full authority to act on behalf of the Company, including the authority to purchase and sell securities and  
other investments on behalf of the Company and to carry out other actions as appropriate to give effect thereto. Whilst the Investment 
Manager may make investment decisions on a day-to-day basis regarding the allocation of funds to different investments, any changes  
to the investment strategy or major allocation decisions have to be approved by the Board, although they may be proposed by the 
Investment Manager. The Board therefore retains full responsibility for major allocation decisions made on an ongoing basis. The 
Investment Manager will always act in accordance with the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, which cannot be 
changed without the approval of the Board of Directors. 

Prior to 13 March 2013, the investment restrictions were as follows:

•	 No more than 50 per cent of the Company’s Net Asset Value may be invested in any one investment theme (with the exception 
of the Special Situations theme in respect of which there is no investment restriction).

•	 No more than 25 per cent of the Company’s Net Asset Value may be invested in any one Ashmore Fund, except for Ashmore 
Funds which have investment restrictions restricting them from investing more than 25 per cent of their Net Asset Value in any 
one investment.

•	 No more than 25 per cent of the Company’s Net Asset Value may be invested in any one direct investment.

•	 No investment in any single Fund may comprise more than 50 per cent of the capital of such Fund.

•	 No more than 15 per cent of the Company’s Net Asset Value may be invested in third-party Funds.

•	 The Company may borrow in aggregate up to 20 per cent of its Net Asset Value for the purpose of financing share buybacks and 
repurchases of shares or in order to satisfy working capital requirements. A majority of the shareholders can approve borrowing 
outside this limit. 

Following the EGM held on 13 March 2013, the investment restrictions set out above ceased to apply for the Company in order to 
facilitate the realisation of its assets in an orderly manner to return cash to shareholders.

The Company is domiciled in Guernsey, Channel Islands. Most of the Company’s income is from investment entities incorporated in 
Guernsey. The investments of the Company are appropriately diversified in accordance with the investment restrictions described in  
the Prospectus.

Significant Shareholders
The Company has a diversified shareholder population. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, Chase Nominees Limited and Goldman 
Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited held more than 10% of the Company’s Net Asset Value. Significant shareholders are listed in  
the Directors’ Report on page 25.
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2.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied for the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements, which give a true and fair view, are prepared in accordance with: International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Standards 
Committee; and the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority. They comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 (the “Law”).

b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets  
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, despite the managed wind-down of the Company which was 
approved by the shareholders during the Extraordinary General Meeting of 13 March 2013. The factors surrounding this are detailed  
in the Directors’ Report on pages 20 and 21. The Board has concluded that the managed wind-down has no significant impact on the 
valuation of the Company’s investments or its ability to meet liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, including for at least  
12 months from the date of this report.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

These estimates and their associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to  
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised  
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

The key judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and the 
key estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment relate to unquoted financial instruments as described in note 2d.

c) Foreign Currency Transactions
i) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements have been prepared in US Dollars (US$), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency,  
rounded to the nearest US Dollar. The Board of Directors considers the US Dollar to be the currency that most faithfully represents  
the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The US Dollar is the currency in which the Company 
measures its performance and reports its results. This determination also considers the competitive environment in which the  
Company is compared to other European investment products.

ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate 
prevailing at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are  
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘other net changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’.

d) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
i) Classification
The Company has classified financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

– Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading: 
Financial assets or financial liabilities classified as held for trading are those acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling  
or repurchasing in the short term. Derivatives, including forward foreign currency contracts, are categorised as financial assets or 
financial liabilities held for trading. 
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2.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

d) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities continued
i) Classification continued
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception:

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are financial instruments that are not classified 
as held for trading but are managed, and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Company’s documented 
investment strategy. These financial instruments include direct debt or equity investments and investments in quoted and unquoted Funds. 

– Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Loans and receivables
This includes cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers, and other receivables.

Other financial liabilities
This includes balances due to brokers and other payables.

ii) Initial recognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the date they are originated.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, with transaction costs 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial assets or financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss  
are initially recognised at fair value and include transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue.

iii) Subsequent measurement
– Fair value measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
category are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within other net changes in fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the period in which they arise and can be unrealised or realised. 

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes to the fair value of financial instruments for the period and the reversal of prior period 
unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were realised in the reporting period.

Realised gains and losses on the disposal of financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using  
the average cost method. 

Valuation of investments in Funds
Investments in open ended Funds are valued by reference to the most recent prices quoted on a recognised investment exchange. 
Investments in unquoted Funds are valued on the basis of the latest Net Asset Value quoted by the administrator of the unquoted  
Fund in question as at the close of business on the relevant valuation day.

Valuation of direct investments
Direct investments may be effected via holding vehicles. The valuation of such positions is performed on a look through basis. The  
fair value of direct investments in debt or equity securities is based on their quoted market price at the Statement of Financial Position 
date, without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. If a quoted market price is not available on a recognised stock exchange 
or from a broker/dealer for non-exchange traded financial instruments, the fair value is estimated using valuation techniques, as 
described in note 7.

Valuation of forward foreign currency contracts
Open forward foreign currency contracts at the Statement of Financial Position date are valued at forward currency rates prevailing on 
that date. The change in the fair value of open forward foreign currency contracts is calculated as the difference between the contract 
rate and the forward currency rate as at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

The Company does not apply hedge accounting.

Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, 
less principal repayments, plus or minus its cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method for any difference between 
the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, less any impairment.
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2.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

iv) Impairment of financial assets classified as loans and receivables
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets classified as loans and 
receivables are impaired. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Company’s loans and receivables were not impaired.

Objective evidence of impairment may include: significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a 
borrower or issuer, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not otherwise consider, 
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse 
changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. 

Impairment losses on loans and receivables are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and  
the present value of the estimated future cash flows from the asset discounted at its original effective interest rate. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and reflected in the Statement of Financial Position in an allowance account 
against loans and receivables. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. The 
Company writes off loans and receivables when they are determined to be uncollectible.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment is reversed through profit or loss.

v) Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the  
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when their 
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

vi) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position when, and only when,  
the Company has a legal right to offset the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset  
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS.

e) Amounts due from and due to Brokers 
Amounts due from and to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for securities purchased that have been 
contracted for but not yet settled or delivered on the Statement of Financial Position date respectively. The accounting policy for the 
recognition of amounts due from and to brokers is discussed in note 2d.

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents may comprise current deposits with banks, bank overdrafts and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that: are readily convertible to known amounts of cash; are subject to insignificant changes in value; and are held for the purpose of 
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. Cash, deposits with banks and bank overdrafts  
are stated at their principal amount.

g) Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are included in 
equity as a deduction from issue proceeds, net of tax.

Where the Company re-purchases its own ordinary shares (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the ordinary shares are 
cancelled, re-issued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the amount received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and related tax effects, is recognised as an increase in equity. Where such shares are 
subsequently cancelled, no further adjustments to shareholders’ equity or reserves are necessary.

h) Interest Income and Dividend Income
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues, on a time-proportionate basis using the 
effective interest rate method. It includes interest income from cash and cash equivalents and from debt securities at fair value  
though profit or loss.

Income distributions from quoted Funds are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as dividend income when declared. 
Dividend income from unquoted Funds and private equity investments is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

i) Earnings per Share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for each class of its ordinary shares. The basic EPS of each 
share class is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders of each share class by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the respective share class during the period. Where dilutive instruments are in  
issue, diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of the dilutive instruments. 
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2.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

j) Expenses
All expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis. 

k) Segmental Reporting
Although the Company has two classes of shares and invests in various investment themes, it is organised and operates as one 
business and one geographical segment as the principal focus is on emerging market strategies, mainly achieved via investments  
in Funds domiciled in Europe but investing globally. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the 
Company as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company as  
a whole. Additionally, the Company’s performance is evaluated on an overall basis. The Company’s management receives financial 
information prepared under IFRS and, as a result, the disclosure of separate segmental information is not required.

l) Consolidation
The Company is not required to consolidate any of the investments listed on page 35 or the underlying investments of the Funds  
held, as it does not control them.

m) New Standards and Interpretations not yet Adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after  
1 January 2013, which have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those that may be relevant to the Company  
are set out below. The Company does not plan to adopt these standards early.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2013), IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010) and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009) (together, IFRS 9)
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 (2010) introduces new 
requirements relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project to make limited amendments to the classification 
and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets.

The IFRS 9 (2009) requirements represent a significant change from the existing requirements in IAS 39 in respect of financial assets. 
The standard contains two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. A financial asset would 
be measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual  
cash flows, and the asset’s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest  
on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would be measured at fair value. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 
categories of held-to-maturity, available-for-sale and loans and receivables. For an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for 
trading, the standard permits an irrevocable election, on initial recognition, on an individual share-by-share basis, to present all fair value 
changes from the investment in OCI. No amount recognised in OCI would ever be reclassified to profit or loss at a later date. However, 
dividends on such investments would be recognised in profit or loss, rather than OCI, unless they clearly represent a partial recovery of 
the cost of the investment. Investments in equity instruments in respect of which an entity does not elect to present fair value changes 
in OCI would be measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

The standard requires derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is a financial asset in the scope of the standard not to be separated; 
instead, the hybrid financial instrument is assessed in its entirety for whether it should be measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

IFRS 9 (2010) introduces a new requirement in respect of financial liabilities designated under the fair value option to generally present  
fair value changes that are attributable to the liability’s credit risk in OCI rather than in profit or loss. Apart from this change, IFRS 9 (2010) 
largely carries forward without substantive amendment the guidance on classification and measurement of financial liabilities from IAS 39.

IFRS 9 (2013) introduces new requirements for hedge accounting that align hedge accounting more closely with risk management. 

The mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 is not specified, but will be determined when the outstanding phases are finalised. However, 
current application of IFRS 9 is permitted. 

Based on the initial assessment, the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32)
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 by explaining when an entity currently has a legally enforceable  
right to set-off and when gross settlement is considered to be equivalent to net settlement. The amendments are effective for  
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and interim periods within those annual periods. Early application is permitted.

Based on the initial assessment, the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27
The amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 on Investment Entities are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2014 and define an investment entity and introduce an exception to consolidating particular subsidiaries for investment 
entities. These amendments require an investment entity to measure those subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its 
consolidated and separate financial statements. The amendments also introduce new disclosure requirements for investment  
entities in IFRS 12 and IAS 27.

Based on the initial assessment, the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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3.	 Taxation

The Director of Income Tax in Guernsey has confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company is exempt  
from Guernsey Income Tax under the Income Tax (Exempt bodies) (Guernsey) Ordinance 1989, and that any surplus income of  
the Company may be distributed without the deduction of Guernsey Income Tax. Pursuant to the exemption granted under the 
above-mentioned ordinance, the Company is subject to an annual fee, currently £600, payable to States of Guernsey Income Tax.  
The Company is exposed to other taxes in its countries of investment.

4.	 Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

31 December  
2013 
US$

31 December  
2012 
US$

Financial assets held for trading:
– Derivative financial assets 4,072,451 3,642,530
Total financial assets held for trading 4,072,451 3,642,530

Designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception: 
– Equity investments 234,666,774 423,845,150
– Debt investments 2,646,061 31,379,479
Total designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception 237,312,835 455,224,629
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 241,385,286 458,867,159

There were no significant changes to the Company’s direct equity and debt investments other than the valuation movements.

As at 31 December 2013, derivative financial assets comprised forward foreign currency contracts as follows:

Derivative financial assets Currency Bought Amount Bought Currency Sold Amount Sold Maturity Date Unrealised Gain

BRL 31,607,567 US$ 13,210,000 04/02/2014 76,223 
GBP 120,308,128 US$ 196,194,284 17/01/2014 3,047,441 
US$ 15,988,451 BRL 35,778,956 04/02/2014 948,787 

Total derivative financial assets 4,072,451

As at 31 December 2012, derivative financial assets comprised forward foreign currency contracts as follows:

Derivative financial assets Currency Bought Amount Bought Currency Sold Amount Sold Maturity Date Unrealised Gain

GBP 188,497,429 US$ 302,763,460 18/01/2013 3,626,326 
US$ 10,316,757 BRL 21,188,556 04/02/2013 13,044 
US$ 4,943,125 GBP 3,039,170 18/01/2013 3,160 

Total derivative financial assets 3,642,530

 
31 December  

2013 
US$

31 December  
2012 
US$

Financial liabilities held for trading:
– Derivative financial liabilities (522,688) (319,477)
Total financial liabilities held for trading (522,688) (319,477)

As at 31 December 2013, derivative financial liabilities comprised forward foreign currency contracts as follows:

Derivative financial liabilities Currency Bought Amount Bought Currency Sold Amount Sold Maturity Date Unrealised Loss

US$ 5,010,012 EUR 3,693,588 21/01/2014 (79,524)
US$ 23,404,608 GBP 14,400,000 17/01/2014 (443,164)

Total derivative financial liabilities (522,688)

As at 31 December 2012, derivative financial liabilities comprised forward foreign currency contracts as follows:

Derivative financial liabilities Currency Bought Amount Bought Currency Sold Amount Sold Maturity Date Unrealised Loss

US$ 7,600,000 BRL 15,937,960 04/02/2013 (150,418)
US$ 3,814,025 EUR 2,923,588 14/01/2013 (40,816)
US$ 5,670,371 GBP 3,567,429 18/01/2013 (128,243)

Total derivative financial liabilities (319,477)
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5.	 Net Gain/Loss from Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

31 December  
2013  
US$

31 December  
2012 
US$

Other net changes in fair value through profit or loss:
– Realised (16,964,482) 30,994,050
– Change in unrealised (89,849,284) (59,311,476)
Total (losses) (106,813,766) (28,317,426)

Other net changes in fair value on assets held for trading (155,505) 36,351,321
Other net changes in fair value on assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (106,658,261) (64,668,747)
Total net (losses) (106,813,766) (28,317,426)

6.	 Other Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Other financial assets relate to prepaid expenses and comprised the following:

31 December  
2013  
US$

31 December  
2012 
US$

Prepaid Directors’ insurance 9,895 –
Prepaid regulatory fees – 3,773
Total 9,895 3,773

Other financial liabilities relate to accounts payable and accrued expenses, and comprised the following:

31 December  
2013  
US$

31 December  
2012 
US$

Management fee payable (net) 258,918 446,531
Incentive fee payable 2,600,241 5,886,923
Other accruals 834,798 324,982
Total 3,693,957 6,658,436

The net management fee payable includes a rebate of US$665,598 (2012: US$1,173,727) due from the Investment Manager in 
accordance with the Investment Management Agreement as described in note 11a.
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7.	 Financial Instruments 

a) Carrying amounts versus fair values
As at 31 December 2013, the carrying values of financial assets and liabilities presented in the Statement of Financial Position 
approximate their fair values.

b) Financial instruments carried at fair value fair value hierarchy
The Company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in  
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in an active market for identical instruments. 

•	 Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).  
This category includes instruments valued using: quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments: quoted prices for 
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques for which all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

•	 Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation 
technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s 
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis  
of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is 
assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant 
adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input 
to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The Company considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 
verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The Company recognises transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 based on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer. This policy on the timing of recognising transfers is the same for transfers into a level as for transfers out of a level.

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss (by class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2013:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets held for trading:
– Derivative financial assets – 4,072,451 – 4,072,451
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception: 
– Equity investments 5,371,650 – 229,295,124 234,666,774
– Debt investments – – 2,646,061 2,646,061
Total 5,371,650 4,072,451 231,941,185 241,385,286

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Financial liabilities held for trading:
– Derivative financial liabilities – 522,688 – 522,688
Total – 522,688 – 522,688
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7.	 Financial Instruments continued

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (by class) 
measured at fair value at 31 December 2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total balance

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets held for trading:
– Derivative financial assets – 3,642,530 – 3,642,530
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception: 
– Equity investments 29,088,162 128,376,450 266,380,450 423,845,150
– Debt investments – – 31,379,479 31,379,479
Total 29,088,162 132,018,980 297,760,017 458,867,159

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Financial liabilities held for trading:
– Derivative financial liabilities – 319,477 – 319,477
Total – 319,477 – 319,477

Level 1 assets include listed MCX, (Aginyx Ordinary Shares), which was transferred from level 2 during the year, as the price is no 
longer subject to a discount since March 2013.

Level 2 assets include forward currency contracts that are calculated internally using observable data.

Level 2 liabilities include forward currency contracts that are calculated internally using observable data.

Level 3 assets include all unquoted funds, limited partnerships and unquoted investments. Investments in unquoted funds and  
limited partnerships are valued on the basis of the latest Net Asset Value, which represents the fair value, quoted by the administrator 
of the unquoted fund, as at the close of business on the relevant valuation day. Ashmore Asian Recovery Fund (“ARF”) shares were 
suspended from their official listing on the Channel Islands Stock Exchange with effect from 29 January 2013 and therefore were 
transferred from level 2 into level 3. Unquoted funds are classified as level 3 assets after consideration of their underlying investments, 
lock-up periods and liquidity. 

The following tables present the movement in level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 December 2013 and December 2012 by class 
of financial instrument:

Equity securities Debt securities Total

Opening balance 1 January 2013 266,380,538 31,379,479 297,760,017
Purchases 548,691 – 548,691 
Sales and return of capital  (82,546,152)  –  (82,546,152)
Transfer into level 3 110,194,018  – 110,194,018 
Gains and losses recognised in profit and loss* (65,281,970) (28,733,418) (94,015,388)
Closing balance 31 December 2013  229,295,124 2,646,061 231,941,185

 
Equity securities Debt securities Total

Opening balance 1 January 2012 333,949,984 45,884,138 379,834,122
Purchases 21,918,052 – 21,918,052
Sales and return of capital (22,832,937)  – (22,832,937)
Transfer out of level 3 (11,501,887)  – (11,501,887)
Gains and losses recognised in profit and loss* (55,152,674) (14,504,659) (69,657,333)
Closing balance 31 December 2012  266,380,538 31,379,479 297,760,017

* �Gains and losses recognised in profit and loss include unrealised results on existing assets as at 31 December 2013 of US$(299,790,023) 
(2012: US$(180,212,342)).

Total gains and losses included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are presented in ‘Other net changes in the fair value of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss’.

As at 31 December 2013, the carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values. 
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7.	 Financial Instruments continued

Valuation methodology of level 3 assets held by underlying Ashmore Funds and the Company
The Pricing Methodology and Valuation Committee (PMVC), which has been authorised as an Approved Person to provide valuations  
to the Administrator, operates and meets to consider the methods for pricing hard-to-value investments where a reliable pricing source 
is not available, if an asset does not trade regularly, or in the case of a significant event (such as a major event and market volatility 
outside of local market hours). These assets, which are classified within level 3, may include all asset types but are frequently ‘Special 
Situations’ style investments, typically incorporating distressed, illiquid or private equity assets.

For these hard-to-value investments, the methodology and models used to determine fair value were created in accordance with the 
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation (IPEV) guidelines by experienced personnel at an independent third-party 
valuation specialist. The valuation is then subject to review, amendment if necessary, then approval, firstly by the PMVC, and then  
by the Board of Directors of the Company.

Valuation techniques used by the third-party valuation specialists include the market approach, the income approach or the cost 
approach for which sufficient and reliable data is available. Within level 3, the use of the market approach generally consists of using 
comparable market transactions, while the use of the income approach generally consists of the net present value of estimated future 
cash flows, adjusted as deemed appropriate for liquidity, credit, market and/or other risk factors.

The main inputs used by the third-party valuation specialist in estimating the value of level 3 investments include the original transaction 
price, recent transactions in the same or similar instruments, completed or pending third-party transactions in the underlying investment 
or comparable issuers, subsequent rounds of financing, recapitalisations and other transactions across the capital structure, offerings in 
the equity or debt capital markets, and changes in financial ratios or cash flows. Level 3 investments may also be adjusted to reflect 
illiquidity and/or non-transferability.

The following table shows the valuation technique and the key unobservable inputs used in the determination of fair value of level 3 
direct investments:

Balance at  
31 December  

2013 
US$

Valuation  
methodology Unobservable inputs Range

Equity in private companies 16,471,209 Third-party valuation model Inputs to valuation model N/A
Debt in private companies 2,646,061 Third-party valuation model Inputs to valuation model N/A
Investments in unlisted Funds 212,823,915 Net Asset Value Inputs to Net Asset Value N/A

	

Balance at  
31 December  

2012 
US$

Valuation  
methodology Unobservable inputs Range

Equity in private companies 20,970,584 Third-party valuation model Inputs to valuation model N/A
Debt in private companies 31,379,479 Third-party valuation model Inputs to valuation model N/A
Investments in unlisted Funds 355,603,972 Net Asset Value Inputs to Net Asset Value N/A

The Company believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, however the use of different methodologies or assumptions  
could lead to different measurements of fair value. For fair value investments in Level 3, changing one or more of the assumptions  
used to alternative assumptions would result in an increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to investors. Due to the numerous 
different factors affecting the assets, the impact cannot be reliably quantified. It is reasonably possible, on the basis of existing 
knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from the assumptions used could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of affected assets.
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8.	 Capital and Reserves 

The Company’s capital is represented by two classes of ordinary shares, namely the US$ share class and GBP share class. The holders 
of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and have no redemption rights.

The total comprehensive gain or loss during the year is allocated proportionately to each share class except for the results of hedging the 
US Dollar exposure of the assets attributable to the Sterling-denominated GBP share class, which are allocated solely to this share class.

The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of US$ and £ shares at no par value.

Ordinary shares
The following table presents the summary of changes in the number of shares issued and fully paid during the year ended 31 December 2013:

US$ Shares £ Shares

31 December 2012 23,834,219 23,052,010
Share conversions (1,948,828) 1,237,055
Compulsory redemptions (6,423,389) (6,599,053)
31 December 2013 15,462,002 17,690,012

Share Conversion
A shareholder has the right, as the Directors may determine for this purpose at each “Conversion Calculation Date”, to elect to convert 
some or all of the shares of any class they hold into a different class or classes of shares by giving at least five business days’ notice to 
the Company before the relevant Conversion Calculation Date. Prior to the 2011 AGM, shareholders were able to convert their shares 
on a quarterly basis at the NAV Calculation Dates in March, June, September and December. As per the amended Articles of 
Incorporation dated 18 April 2011, shareholders were able to convert their shares on a monthly basis.

An announcement was made by the Directors of the Company on 22 March 2013, that the monthly share conversion opportunities for 
the months ended March, June, September and December 2013 would not take place. This decision was taken due to the anticipated 
returns of capital expected to take place using the NAVs on these month-end dates, as part of the orderly wind-down of the Company.

On 30 August 2013, the Directors of the Company announced that share conversion opportunities were offered for the months ending 
February, May, August and November. Share conversion opportunities for all other month ends were no longer offered and this decision 
was taken due to the timings and processes surrounding the anticipated returns of capital as part of the orderly wind-down of the Company.

The following share conversions took place during the year ended 31 December 2013:

Transfers from Transfers to Number of shares to switch out Number of shares to switch in

£ shares US$ shares 11,484 17,322
US$ shares £ shares 1,966,150 1,248,539

Compulsory Redemptions 
Following the approval by the Company’s shareholders of the wind-down proposal as described in the circular published on  
20 February 2013, during the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company announced partial returns of capital to shareholders  
by way of compulsory partial redemptions of shares, with the following redemption dates:

•	 3 May 2013, using the 31 March 2013 Net Asset Value;

•	 2 August 2013, using the 30 June 2013 Net Asset Value; and

•	 1 November 2013, using the 30 September 2013 Net Asset Value

The amounts applied to the partial redemptions of shares comprised monies from the realisation of the Company’s investments up to 
and including the reference NAV calculation dates less the liquid assets required to meet the liabilities of the Company. During the year, 
the following shares were redeemed by way of compulsory partial redemptions of shares. 

Number of ordinary 
shares redeemed

Consideration in  
US$

US$ share class (6,423,389) (49,440,529)
£ share class (6,599,053) (76,670,220)
Total (13,022,442) (126,110,749)
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8.	 Capital and Reserves continued

Following the compulsory partial redemption of shares, the Company confirmed that all treasury shares (GBP 1,063,503 treasury shares 
and US$ 2,385,107 treasury shares) were cancelled.

Number of shares  
held in treasury as at  

31 December  
2013

Number of shares 
held in treasury as at 

31 December  
2012

US$ share class – 2,385,107
£ share class – 1,063,503
Total – 3,448,610

There were no share repurchases during the year ended 31 December 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the following share repurchases were made:

Number of ordinary 
shares repurchased

Consideration in  
US$

US$ share class 350,887 1,825,253
£ share class 337,042 2,735,881
Total 687,929 4,561,134

Voting rights
Taking into account the cancellation of the treasury shares, the voting rights each share is entitled to in a poll at any general meeting  
of the Company (applying the Weighted Voting Calculation as described in the registration document published by the Company on  
6 November 2007 (the “Prospectus”)) is as follows:

US Dollar shares: 1.0000
Sterling shares: 2.0288

The above figures may be used by shareholders as the denominator for calculations to determine if they are required to notify their 
interest in, or a change to their interest in the Company under the FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

Special Reserve
On 5 November 2007, the Company passed a special resolution that, subject to the admission of the Company’s shares to the London 
Stock Exchange becoming unconditional and with the approval of the Royal Court (the “Court”), the amount standing to the credit of 
the share premium account of the Company following completion of the offering be cancelled and the amount of the share premium 
account so cancelled be credited as a distributable reserve to be established in the books of account of the Company. This reserve is 
able to be applied in any manner in which the Company’s profits available for distribution (as determined in accordance with the Laws) 
are able to be applied, including in the purchase of the Company’s own shares and in the payment of dividends.

Distribution Policy
Subject to the Laws and the Listing Rules, the Company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends. No dividend 
shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may declare and pay interim dividends if, in the opinion of the Board, 
they are justified by the profits of the Company.

No dividends were declared during the year ended 31 December 2013 or the year ended 31 December 2012.

Following the EGM on 13 March 2013, shareholders approved proposals to distribute surplus cash held by the Company on a quarterly 
basis by way of a pro rata compulsory redemption of shares.
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9.	 Net Asset Value

The Net Asset Value of each US$ and £ share is determined by dividing the total net assets of the Company attributed to the US$ and  
£ share classes by the number of US$ and £ shares in issue respectively at the year end as follows:

As at 31 December 2013

Net assets  
attributable to  

each share class in  
US$ Shares in issue

Net assets per 
share in  

US$

Net assets per 
share in local 

currency

US$ share 96,788,419 15,462,002 6.26 6.26
£ share 181,403,820 17,690,012 10.25 6.19
Total 278,192,239  

As at 31 December 2012

Net assets  
attributable to  

each share class in  
US$ Shares in issue

Net assets per 
share in  

US$

Net assets per 
share in local 

currency

US$ share 188,793,224 23,834,219 7.92 7.92
£ share 291,241,045 23,052,010 12.63 7.77
Total 480,034,269    

10.	Dividend and Interest Income

Year ended  
31 December  

2013 
US$ 

Year ended  
31 December  

2012 
US$

Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents 4,489 692
Total interest income 4,489 692

   

 

Year ended  
31 December  

2013 
US$ 

Year ended  
31 December  

2012 
US$

Dividend income
Equity investments designated at fair value through profit or loss 40,483,106 28,869,984
Total dividend income 40,483,106 28,869,984

11.	Significant Agreements

a) Investment Manager
Ashmore Investment Management Limited (the “Investment Manager”) is remunerated at a monthly rate of one twelfth of 2%  
of the Net Asset Value (calculated before the deduction of investment management fees for that month and before the deduction  
of any accrued incentive fee), payable monthly in arrears. There is an arrangement to offset the investment management fees payable  
by the Company against management fees charged at the Sub-Fund level to avoid double-charging management fees, so that the 
effective monthly investment management fee payable at Company level equates to one twelfth of 2% of the Net Asset Value. From  
13 December 2014, the monthly rate will reduce to one twelfth of 1% of the Net Asset Value of investments made, other than in 
Sub-Funds (calculated before deduction of the investment management fee for that month and before the deduction of any accrued 
incentive fee). In relation to the investments made in Sub-Funds, the Investment Manager will be entitled only to management fees  
at the rate charged by it to such Sub-Funds.

The Investment Manager may terminate the Investment Management Agreement at any time by giving the Company not less  
than six months written notice.

The Investment Management Agreement, which is governed by English law, had a fixed term of three years, which commenced  
on Admission. Following this initial term, the agreement continues unless: (i) it is terminated by the Company, giving the Investment 
Manager not less than two years’ written notice, provided that any such notice may only be given following the expiry of the fixed  
initial term of three years; or (ii) it is terminated by the Company, giving the Investment Manager 60 calendar days’ written notice  
(a “Company 60 Day Notice”) to expire no earlier than the fixed three-year initial term of the agreement, provided that the Company 
provides the Investment Manager with certain compensation. In the event that the agreement is terminated in accordance 
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13. Earnings per Share (EPS)

The calculation of the earnings per US$, € and £ share is based on the gain/(loss) for the year attributable to US$, and £ shareholders  
and the respective weighted average number of shares in issue for each share class during the year. 

The loss attributable to each share class for the year ended 31 December 2013 was as follows:

US$ Share € Share* £ Share

(Loss) per share class (US$) (28,693,899) – (47,037,382)
Weighted average number of shares 19,446,877 – 19,960,122
EPS per share class (US$) (1.48) – (2.36)

Issued shares at the beginning of period 23,834,219 – 23,052,010

Effect on the weighted average number of shares:
Conversion of shares (810,141) – 526,419
Compulsory redemptions (3,577,201) – (3,618,307)

Weighted average number of shares 19,446,877 – 19,960,122

* The Euro share class was cancelled on 23 April 2012.

There were no dilutive instruments in issue during the year.

The loss attributable to each share class for the year ended 31 December 2012 was as follows:

US$ Share € Share* £ Share

(Loss)/gain per share class (US$) (14,727,815) 835,947 (14,332,310)
Weighted average number of shares 22,853,919 702,119 23,299,275
EPS per share class (US$) (0.64) 1.19 (0.62)

Issued shares at the beginning of period 19,896,356 3,370,942 23,184,008

Effect on the weighted average number of shares:
Conversion of shares 3,083,273 (2,668,823) 243,969
Repurchase of own shares (125,710) – (128,702)

Weighted average number of shares 22,853,919 702,119 23,299,275

* The Euro share class was cancelled on 23 April 2012.

There were no dilutive instruments in issue during the year.

14.	Financial Risk Management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks which include: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Company puts policies and processes in place to measure and manage the various types of risk to which it is exposed; these are 
explained below. 

Market risk
The majority of the Company’s financial instruments are recognised at fair value, and changes in market conditions directly affect net 
investment income. 

i) Currency Risk
Although the majority of the Company’s investments are denominated in US$, which is its functional currency, the Company may invest 
in financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Company is exposed to the risk 
that the value of its currency, relative to other foreign currencies, may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of the 
portion of the Company’s assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than US$.

The Investment Manager may hedge currency exposures by reference to the most recent Net Asset Value of the Company’s underlying 
investments via the use of forward foreign currency contracts or similar instruments.
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14.	Financial Risk Management continued

As at the Statement of Financial Position date, the Company is not exposed to any significant currency risk arising on its financial assets 
and liabilities, as all investments of the Company are denominated in US$. However, the Company has put in place hedging 
mechanisms to hedge the currency risk arising on the £ share class.

Shares in the Company are denominated in US$ and £. The base currency is the US Dollar, and therefore non-US Dollar subscription 
monies for shares are typically converted into US Dollars for operational purposes. The costs and any benefit of hedging the foreign 
currency exposure of the assets attributable to shares denominated in Sterling against the US Dollar will be allocated solely to the 
Sterling class of shares. This may result in variations in the Net Asset Values of the two classes of shares as expressed in US Dollars.

As at 31 December 2013, the net foreign currency exposure on the £ share class was as follows (in US$):

£ Share

Currency exposure of GBP share class 181,403,820
Nominal value of currency hedges (172,789,676)
Net foreign currency exposure 8,614,144

As at 31 December 2012, the net foreign currency exposure on the £ share class was as follows (in US$):

£ Share

Currency exposure of GBP share class 291,241,045
Nominal value of currency hedges (292,149,964)
Net foreign currency exposure (908,919)

i) Currency risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2013, had the US Dollar strengthened by 1% in relation to the Euro, Brazilian Real and Pound Sterling, with all other 
variables held constant, net assets attributable to equity holders would have increased by US$35,498 (2012: increased by US$33,231). 

A 1% weakening of the US Dollar against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the net assets 
attributable to shareholders, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. This currency risk sensitivity analysis is a relative 
estimate of risk rather than a precise and accurate number.

ii) Interest rate risk
The majority of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing (2013: 85.26%, 2012: 94.14%). As at  
31 December 2013, interest-bearing financial assets comprised cash and cash equivalents of US$41,013,703. The Company’s 
investment portfolio is composed entirely of non-interest bearing assets as at 31 December 2013 (2013: 100%, 2012: 100%).  
As a result, the Company is subject to limited exposure to interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market  
interest rates and a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is not meaningful at this time.

iii) Other price risk	
Other price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than  
those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or  
any other relevant factors.

The Company’s strategy for the management of price risk is driven by the Company’s investment objective. The Company invests primarily in 
Funds managed by the Investment Manager (“Ashmore Funds”), with a principal focus on Special Situations. The Company may also invest 
(or co-invest alongside Ashmore Funds and/or others when appropriate) in direct investments and, on a limited basis, third-party Funds. 

The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Company’s net assets attributable to equity holders to investment price movements 
as at the Statement of Financial Position date. The analysis is based on the assumption that the prices of the investments increase by 
5% (2012: 5%), with all other variables held constant. 

A 5% decrease in prices of the investments would result in an equal but opposite effect on the net assets attributable to equity holders, 
on the basis that all other variables remain constant. The price risk sensitivity analysis provided is a relative estimate of risk rather than  
a precise and accurate number. 

31 December  
2013  
US$

31 December  
2012  
US$

Equity investments 11,733,339 21,192,258
Debt investments 132,303 1,568,974
Total 11,865,642 22,761,232
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14.	Financial Risk Management continued

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has entered 
into with the Company. Credit risk is generally higher when a non exchange-traded financial instrument is involved, because the 
counterparty is not backed by an exchange clearing house. 

As at the Statement of Financial Position date, the maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements is the carrying 
amount of the financial assets, as set out below:

31 December  
2013  
US$

31 December  
2012  
US$

Cash and cash equivalents 41,013,703 28,141,250
Forward currency contracts 4,072,451 3,642,530
Total 45,086,154 31,783,780

None of these assets are impaired nor past due but not impaired.

The credit risk arising on transactions with brokers relates to transactions awaiting settlement. The risk relating to unsettled transactions 
is considered small due to the short settlement period involved. In addition, the Company monitors the credit rating and the financial 
positions of the brokers used to further mitigate this risk.

Substantially all of the assets of the Company, including cash, are held by Northern Trust (Guernsey) Limited. Bankruptcy or insolvency 
of the Custodian may cause the Company’s rights with respect to assets held by the Custodian to be delayed or limited. The Company 
monitors this risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of the Custodian that the Company uses.

The Company is not considered to have exposure to credit risk on its PIK/PPN debt instruments, as the underlying investment is an 
equity (PIK and PPN agreements are made with an SPV which is used to acquire the direct investment).

The Company is considered to have exposure to concentration risk from its investments in AEI Inc – Equity and Renovavel Investments 
BV New PIK/PPN which are also held in the GSSF Funds. As at 31 December 2013, the exposure to these instruments (held directly  
and indirectly) amounted to US$27,738,601 and US$4,926,434 respectively (31 December 2012: US$34,869,677 and US$58,465,692 
respectively), and was classified in the caption ’Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss’ in the Statement of Financial Position.

Liquidity Risk
The Company is not exposed to any significant liquidity risk arising from redemptions at the shareholders’ discretion as the shares 
issued have no defined redeemable date.

In accordance with the investment objective, a significant proportion of the Company’s investments are focused on Special Situations 
via investments in unlisted Funds and other financial instruments. As a result, in certain circumstances, the Company may not be able  
to quickly liquidate its investments in these instruments. 

All residual maturities of the financial liabilities of the Company in US$ as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 are less than three months, 
except for incentive fees payable to the Investment Manager on realisation of investments.

Liquidity risk is primarily related to outstanding commitments and recallable distributions from investments in limited partnerships.  
The outstanding investment commitments of the Company are disclosed in note 18. As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Company 
had enough cash and liquid assets to meet its obligations on these outstanding commitments.

Capital Management
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The shares issued by the Company provide an investor with the 
right to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Company’s net assets at redemption date and 
are classified as equity. See note 8 for a description of the terms of the shares issued by the Company. The Company’s objective is to 
realise the assets in orderly manner to return cash to shareholders. The Articles of Incorporation of the Company were amended to 
facilitate regular return of cash to shareholders

15.	Ultimate Controlling Party

In the opinion of the Directors on the basis of shareholdings advised to them, the Company has no ultimate controlling party.
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16.	Related Party Transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise significant influence over  
the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

The Directors are responsible for the determination of the investment policy of the Company and have overall responsibility for  
the Company’s activities. The Company’s investment portfolio is managed by Ashmore Investment Management Limited.

The Company and the Investment Manager entered into an Investment Management Agreement under which the Investment  
Manager has been given responsibility for the day-to-day discretionary management of the Company’s assets (including uninvested 
cash) in accordance with the Company’s investment objectives and policies, subject to the overall supervision of the Directors and  
in accordance with the investment restrictions in the Investment Management Agreement and the Articles of Incorporation.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company engaged in the following related party transactions:

Related Party Nature
Income/(Expense) 

US$
Receivable/(Payable) 

US$

Ashmore Investment Management Limited Management fees (net) (7,337,095) (258,918)
Ashmore Investment Management Limited Incentive fees 1,542,435 (2,600,241)
Ashmore Investment Management Limited Promotional fees (121,886) (92,904)
Board of Directors Directors’ fees (256,906) (20,081)

Investment Activity  
US$

Related Funds Purchases (101,661,280)
Related Funds Sales 200,461,039
Related Funds Dividends 40,483,106

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company engaged in the following related party transactions:

Related Party Nature
Income/(Expense) 

US$
Receivable/(Payable) 

US$

Ashmore Investment Management Limited Management fees (net) (2,676,787) (446,531)
Ashmore Investment Management Limited Incentive fees (845,334) (5,886,923)
Ashmore Investment Management Limited Promotional fees (164,526) (40,831)
Board of Directors Directors’ fees (306,178) –

Investment Activity  
US$

Related Funds Purchases (52,711,757)
Related Funds Sales 55,013,508
Related Funds Dividends 28,869,984

Related Funds are other Funds managed by Ashmore Investment Management Limited.

The Directors had the following beneficial interests in the Company:

31 December 2013* 31 December 2012

US$ Ordinary shares £ Ordinary shares US$ Ordinary shares £ Ordinary shares

Jonathan Agnew – – 15,000 –
Nigel de la Rue – 2,883 – 4,000
Christopher Legge – 1,802 – 2,500
Richard Hotchkis – 1,082 – 1,500

* The reductions in beneficial interests were due to the compulsory partial redemptions of shares (note 8). 

Purchases and Sales of the Ashmore SICAV 2 Global Liquidity Fund (“Global Liquidity Fund”) were solely related to the cash 
management of USD on account. Funds are swept into the S&P AAAm rated Global Liquidity Fund and returned as and when  
required for asset purchases or distributions. The Global Liquidity Fund is managed under the dual objectives of the preservation  
of capital and the provision of daily liquidity, investing exclusively in very highly rated short-term liquid money market securities.
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17. Subsequent Events
	 a) Share conversion

The following conversion occurred subsequent to 31 December 2013:

Transfers from Transfers to  
Number of shares  

to switch out
Number of shares  

to switch in

£ shares US$ shares 320,970 532,659

	 b) Compulsory redemption of shares
The following compulsory redemption of shares occurred on 31 January 2013 with reference to the 31 December 2013 Net Asset Value:

 
Number of ordinary  

shares redeemed
Consideration in  

US$

US$ share class (1,983,733) (12,324,761)
£ share class (2,269,536) (22,920,875)

(4,253,269) (35,245,636)

	 c) Changes to the Board
Graeme Dell retired on 16 January 2014 as a Director of the Company and Steve Hicks was appointed in his place.

	 d) Legal proceedings
Subsequent to the financial year end, entities controlled by Ashmore Funds entered into legal proceedings regarding the Alphaland 
investment. As a result of the uncertainty surrounding these proceedings, the Pricing Methodology and Valuation Committee judged  
it prudent to recommend that the valuation of investments in Alphaland held by underlying Ashmore Funds be reduced, in accordance 
with the process outlined in note 7. This revaluation took place between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial 
statements were authorised for issue. The revaluation does not relate to the condition of the investment at the end of the reporting 
period, but reflects circumstances that have arisen subsequently. As a result, no adjustments have been made to these financial 
statements to recognise the revaluation of the underlying investment in Alphaland. If an adjustment had been made, the adverse financial 
impact of this revaluation on the total equity of the Company as at 31 December 2013 would have been approximately US$7 million.

18. Commitments
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Everbright Ashmore China Real 
Estate Fund LP for a total commitment of US$10 million. As at 31 December 2013, the outstanding commitment was US$808,727  
(31 December 2012: US$1,357,419).

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company increased its commitment to VTBC Ashmore Real Estate Partners 1 LP  
to a total of €11.4 million. As at 31 December 2013, the outstanding commitment was €243,474 (31 December 2012: 7,833,696).

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with AA Development Capital India Fund 
LP for an initial commitment of US$4,327,064, which was subsequently increased to US$23,581,027. AA Development Capital India Fund 
LP was dissolved by its General Partner on 28 June 2013 with all outstanding commitments transferred to AA Development Capital India 
Fund 1 LLC. As at 31 December 2013, the outstanding commitment was US$6,261,340 (31 December 2012: US$6,261,340).
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